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Company  Platinum Asset Management Limited 
  
ASX Code PTM 
  
Year Ended  30 June 2017 
  
Previous corresponding period – Year Ended 30 June 2016 
  
ABN  13 050 064 287 
  
Results for Announcement to the Market 
 
Announcement to the market for the Platinum Asset Management Limited Consolidated Group should 
be read in conjunction with the attached 30 June 2017 Annual Report:- 
 
  % Mvt $A’000 

 
Total revenue  -3.2% 333,549 
    
Profit from ordinary activities after income tax  -3.6% 192,647 
    
Net profit attributable to members  -7.4% 186,026 
    
Basic and diluted EPS (cents per share)    31.74 cps 
 
Platinum’s underlying Funds delivered strong investment returns for their clients during 2017, both in 
absolute terms and relative to benchmark. This augers well for the future provided that this 
performance is maintained.  However, average funds under management (“FUM”) fell by 9.6% in the 
year, mostly as a result of historical under-performance, and fee revenue declined by 7.5%. Despite 
strong cost control, overall net profit attributable to owners fell by 7.4%. 
 
The difference between overall profit from ordinary activities after income tax (down 3.6%) and net 
profit attributable to members (down 7.4%) relates to the deconsolidation of the Irish UCITS Fund from 
the consolidated entity, as required under Australian accounting standards. 
 
The statement of comprehensive income presented in the attached audited financial statements 
discloses the investment income and expenses of the offshore UCITS’ income for the period 1 July 
2016 to 26 January 2017 and the consolidated entity’s share of UCITS’ net assets for the period 26 
January 2017 to 30 June 2017. 
 
Dividends 
 
Dividend declared 

 
15 cents per share fully-franked 

 
Ex-dividend date 30 August 2017 
Record date 31 August 2017 
Payable date  22 September 2017 
  
 
A fully-franked dividend of 15 cents per share was paid on 22 March 2017. 
 



 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Refer to the attached audited financial statements for financial data on the consolidated entity. 
 
 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
 
Whilst the Company has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan in place, it is not activated. 
 
Other Information 
 
Net tangible assets per share was $0.57 at 30 June 2017 as compared to $0.62 at 30 June 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
J Jefferies 
Company Secretary 
24 August 2017 



 

 

 
Platinum Asset Management Limited (“PTM”) Chairman’ s Report 2017 
 
This year has seen a number of interesting developments at the company. First and foremost though, 
it was marked by increased returns for the company’s investment clients. Indeed, in some cases, 
recent investment performance has been nothing short of exceptional. For example Platinum’s long 
only global fund, Platinum Unhedged Fund returned nearly 32% after fees and costs for the 12 
months to 30 June 2017. 
 
These investment returns, if sustained, may pave the way for increased profits and dividends but only 
after a period of time has elapsed as investors tend to take time to recognise and reward performance 
with increased funds.  
 
The lag between improved investment performance and additional revenue was very much on display 
in 2017 and best illustrated by the behaviour of the firm’s share price, which closed at $5.76 at 30 
June last year, then bottomed at $4.23 in May 2017 before rebounding to around $5.72 in August 
2017. I realise that this volatility of the PTM share price may have caused some consternation 
amongst some shareholders, so please allow me to take some time out to explain what I believe to be 
the underlying cause of this.    
 
During late 2016, a combination of analysts and short sellers went public with their reasons as to why 
they believed PTM was a “sell”. Their arguments can be summarised into four main categories:  
Platinum Investment Management Limited’s (“Platinum”) short-term investment returns, the strong 
support for indexed funds, fee pressures for active managers, and an apparently under-resourced 
product distribution team.    
 
Each of these points is addressed below: 
 

1. Platinum’s returns:  

It is true that in late 2016, the investment performance of Platinum’s flagship global fund, 
Platinum International Fund (“PIF”), underperformed in the short-term and there is no denying 
that, following this period of underperformance, fund outflows for Platinum were significant 
which heavily influenced research coverage against the stock.  
 
However, investment performance has lifted significantly over each quarter of FY2017 as 
highlighted in the table below. This table shows the performance of PIF and some of the other 
larger Platinum Trust Funds, relative to their respective nominated index returns.  

 
Fund  Performance r elative to the nominated index(%)  

 

1 year: 30/6/16  1 year: 30/6/17  5 year  annualised : 
30/6/16 

5 year  
annualised:30/6/17 

Platinum International 
Fund 

-5.7% pa 6.0% pa -2.1% pa 0% pa 

Platinum Unhedged 
Fund  

-9.2% pa 16.4% pa -2.4% pa 1.5% pa 

Platinum International 
Brands Fund 

-4.2% pa 12.4% pa -3.9% pa -1.0% pa 

Platinum Asia Fund -1.2% pa -3.3% pa 2.9% pa 1.6% pa 
Platinum European 
Fund 

1.8% pa 11.0% pa 2.3% pa 1.9% pa 

Platinum Japan Fund 2.0% pa 8.3% pa 7.0%pa 9.3% pa 
 

Source: Platinum Investment Management Limited. Returns of the funds are based on Class C Units (which do not have an investment performance fee), and 

represent the combined income and capital returns for the specified period. They are net of fees and costs (excluding the buy-sell spread). All returns are 

pre-tax and assume the reinvestment of distributions. Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future results. Investment returns are calculated relative 

to: the MSCI All Country World Net Index in A$ for Platinum International Fund, Platinum Unhedged Fund and Platinum International Brands Fund; the MSCI 

All Country Asia ex Japan Net Index in $A for the Platinum Asia Fund; the MSCI Japan Net Index in $A for the Platinum Japan Fund; and the MSCI All 

Country Europe Net Index in $A for the Platinum European Fund.  

 
To take one example, the very strong one-year investment returns of the flagship Platinum 
International Fund contributed to its five-year annualised investment return relative to its 



 

 

benchmark, which recovered from -2.1% for the year ended 30 June 2016 back to the 
benchmark return for the year ended 30 June 2017. It is worth noting that, PIF’s annualised 
returns since inception have remained essentially unchanged, delivering around 6% per 
annum above the index.  

 
2 .Support for Indexed Funds:   
 
In the United States, indexed or passive equity strategies now account for approximately 40% 
of funds under management (FUM).  
 
By contrast, in Australia, passive equity investment strategies only account for 20% of all 
FUM. Since January 2016, net flows to active managers for both local and global strategies 
($914 million) continue to exceed net flows to passive strategies ($804 million)1.  
 
Active investment management still continues to be valued by Australian institutional and 
retail investors but it would be remiss to ignore the strong overseas trend towards passive 
equity management. 
 
Most research into this topic indicates that the momentum to passive management appears to 
be mostly driven by the recent underperformance of active managers, especially since the 
GFC. The implication being drawn is that the pool of so called “alpha” available to active 
managers to deliver out performance may have been significantly diminished by the 
enhanced efficiency and lower volatility of equity markets in recent years, perhaps best 
illustrated by the rise of algorithmic trading.  
 
The theoretical construct observed by Professor William Sharpe certainly remains 
unchanged. Cumulative investment performance by all active managers against the relevant 
index is a zero sum game. That is, every active manager that underperforms the index will be 
offset by an active manager that delivers an equivalent amount of out-performance. This 
aggregate zero return then becomes negative after fees and transaction costs. However, 
what is true in aggregate does not extend to every individual manager. The key is not to lose 
faith in active management, but rather to pick the right active managers. That is, pick those 
active investment managers with proven track records, a strong investment process and a 
deep research team. I believe that this rare group of managers should remain well placed to 
deliver for clients in, what is likely to remain, a very uncertain and volatile environment.    
 
The next question is the one perennially asked by asset consultants/rating agencies: “Can a 
given active manager prove its ability to deliver regular out performance, on a repeatable 
basis, over time?”  
 
I think the answer is a resounding yes. More specifically, with respect to Platinum, whilst the 
investment management process continues to be refined over time to accommodate market 
dynamics, Platinum’s commitment to value investing and capital protection remains intact and 
is at the core of its investment management process. The long-term outperformance of the 
Platinum Trust Funds since inception, relative to their indices, supports this view and, I 
believe, demonstrates the robustness and integrity of Platinum’s investment process. 
 
3. Fee Pressure for Active Managers: 

Declining investment management fees for active investment strategies is a world-wide 
phenomenon, partly driven by the low cost of index funds as well as the difficulty in generating 
out performance in a low volatility, lower return world.  
 
This fact of life for investment managers has resulted in many competitors significantly 
discounting fees in an attempt to retain their funds under management.   
 

                                                 
1  Bloomberg Business Week 1 June 2017. 



 

 

For all the noise about the benefits of passive investing, the truth is that for a given level of 
risk, the best measure for investors remains a manager’s investment performance, net of 
fees. However, this important message has been subjugated by marketing spin into a 
relentless quest to seek the lowest average investment management fee, no matter the 
performance achieved. 
 
Platinum’s response has been to take a more measured approach and avoid joining the “race 
to the bottom”. As mentioned previously, the firm’s ability to deliver investment out 
performance over the long-term is a very scarce commodity.  Therefore, I believe that 
Platinum is better placed than many of its competitors to command a fee premium and resist 
the urge to heavily discount. 
 
None-the-less, following a fee review by management, a fee reduction to 1.35% pa was 
implemented for investors in the Platinum Trust Funds and Platinum Global Fund. In addition, 
Platinum also introduced a performance fee class to provide investors with the option to pay a 
lower base management fee, albeit at the cost of paying a 15% performance fee should the 
fund outperform its index.   
 
This is the balance that Platinum has struck between believing in its ability to deliver out 
performance consistently over time, with the reality of the investment management 
landscape.   
 
Although I believe that this is the right decision for the long-term, in the short-term, it was 
estimated that the fee realignment would reduce annual revenues for PTM by around 9% in 
the absence of stronger fund flows, and PTM made an announcement to this effect in April 
2017. The initial impact of this fee decrease announcement placed downward pressure on the 
PTM share price. 
 

4. Under-Resourced Product Distribution:  

Platinum’s primary focus is on the investment management process and delivering strong 
investment returns over time. If outperformance is generated consistently and investor’s 
capital is protected, then strong support should follow at both the retail and institutional levels. 
 
Platinum does not have a sales driven business model. Instead it focuses its resources on 
investment performance and brand. Platinum will continue to concentrate on direct interaction 
with retail investors, through the bi-annual investor road show programme and other related 
initiatives. In addition Platinum has a highly capable team of technically strong investment 
specialists, who are former Platinum investment analysts, servicing the needs of the retail 
financial advisors and platform distribution channels for regular communication and 
interaction.  
 
However, many sell side analysts instead focus on short-term retail funds flows as the main 
indicator of short-term share price movements, and have queried whether the absence of a 
large sales team and sales culture is an impediment to long-term success.  
 
Platinum’s view has been consistent over the last 20 years, that the primary driver of long-
term success will always be delivering investment returns for clients and that the costs of 
large sales forces, in terms of culture and distraction to the investment team, far outweigh the 
short-term benefits.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
Consistent with a strong branding strategy, Platinum has also begun to broaden its reach by 
offering new funds both domestically and internationally. The most recent additions are the 
Dublin domiciled UCITS funds and the shortly to be released ASX Quoted Managed Funds 
(“QMF’s”). The table below sets out the broad range of PTM investment products that are 
available, or will shortly be available, across domestic and international markets by 
distribution channel: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*via a distribution arrangement with Optima Funds 

 
Concluding thoughts:  
 
Despite a strong marketing presence by index managers, it remains an irrefutable fact that active 
investment management will continue to co-exist with indexed funds and I believe that both have a 
place in the market.  
 
PTM does not provide market guidance. However, our silence on this point does not in any way 
reflect a diminishment in the Board’s belief in the business or its future.  
 
Now turning to a re-cap for the year 
 
Funds under Management ("FUM") 
 

FUM at 30 June 2017 was $22.7 billion and this was similar to the 30 June 2016 closing FUM of 
$22.7 billion. Average FUM for the year decreased by 9.6% to $23.4 billion from an average FUM of 
$25.8 billion for the previous year. This fall in average FUM was due to net fund outflows more than 
offsetting the gains made from investment performance. 
 
As already highlighted, the overwhelming majority of Platinum Group’s underlying funds and 
mandates delivered strong relative investment performance during the period, thus validating 
Platinum’s benchmark-agnostic investment approach and the quality of the research work undertaken 
by Platinum’s investment team. Strong investment performance delivered $4.7 billion of additional 
FUM for the year. Long-term performance across each and every Platinum Trust Fund remains 
strong, and you would seldom find an investment manager, either in Australia or internationally, that 
has managed such large sums of money and delivered such consistent investment returns over such 
a long period of time. 
 
Despite this, the Board was disappointed to report that total net investment outflows for the year were 
$3.6 billion. This was in part due to a small number of large account outflows. In addition to this, the 
30 June 2017 net distribution from the Platinum Trust Funds was very large at $1.1 billion. 
 
Operating Performance 
 
In the current year, fee revenue declined by 7.5% to $312.5 million (2016: $337.9 million) on account 
of average Funds Under Management (“FUM”) declining by 9.6%.  
 
The investment held by the Platinum Group in Platinum Asia Investments Limited (PAI) and the 
contribution of Platinum World Portfolios PLC to the consolidated entity’s results, together, delivered 
excellent investment gains of $16.6m (2016: loss of $2.9m). 
 

 Uni t Trust  ASX Quoted Funds  Dublin  
UCITS 
Funds 

US Funds*  
 

Strategy  Australia 
Retail 

Australia 
Wholesale 

Listed 
Investment 

Company (“LIC”) 

MFund  QMF   

Global Equites X X X (ASX code: 
PMC) 

X X (ASX 
code: 
PIXX) 

 

X X 

Asia Equities X X X (ASX code: 
PAI) 

 X (ASX 
code: 

PAXX) 
 

X  

Japan Equities X X    X X 



 

 

Costs are closely monitored and only increased marginally relative to the prior year. The Platinum 
Group has chosen to defer much of its business development spend to FY18 in line with the launch of 
the new quoted managed funds and public website. The total cost to income ratio was 18.9% with 
non-people costs down 13% from the prior year.  
 
Platinum’s team of investment specialists have had an extremely busy year in terms of adviser visits, 
client presentations and roadshows. Platinum sets itself apart from many of its competitors by 
ensuring that investment analysts accompany investment specialists on their travels, and thus share 
with investors and advisers, their investment and global market insights. 
 
Profit before income tax expense was $270.6 million (2016: $282.2 million) representing a decrease 
of 4.1% on the previous year. The profit after tax for the year was $192.6 million (2016: $199.9 
million) representing a decrease of 3.6%.  
 

Remuneration Matters 
 
Staff costs increased in the current year by $3.8 million or 12.4%, reflecting market pressure to retain 
the best, highly-qualified and investment management staff. Extra incentives were paid to a handful of 
investment professionals that directly contributed to the strong investment performance generated in 
the current financial year. Outside of this handful of staff, the incentive pool was relatively flat for the 
year. Increases also occurred due to new staff hires and salary increases were in line with additional 
staff responsibilities. 
 
For the investment team, short-term incentives paid are dependent on achieving strong relative 
returns or outperformance of benchmark returns over a one and three year period. Despite the strong 
performance over a one year period, the three year returns generated meant that only a small group 
of investment professionals benefitted. 
 
Platinum’s Chief Investment Officer, Andrew Clifford has not received any form of short-term incentive 
over the last two years. 
 
Two other members of KMP received short-term incentives in 2017, being the Director of Investment 
Services and Communications, Elizabeth Norman and the Finance Director, Andrew Stannard. 
 
The variable compensation paid to Elizabeth Norman reflected her role as Director of Investor 
Services and Communications and her leadership and involvement in the development of several 
initiatives during the year, including the new quoted managed funds, new website design and 
expanding our communication efforts with both advisors and investors. 
 
The variable compensation paid to Andrew Stannard reflected the leadership and strategic input that 
he provided into various development opportunities for the business, including overseeing the launch 
of the quoted managed funds and associated legal and regulatory requirements.  
 
In the current year, Platinum made an additional allocation of deferred incentives totalling $4,875,000, 
under the “Deferred Incentive Plan” that was approved by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. 
 
Dividends 

The Directors have declared a fully-franked ordinary dividend of 15 cents per share and this will be 
paid on 22 September 2017. A fully-franked ordinary interim dividend of 15 cents per share was paid 
on 22 March 2017. This brings the total FY17 dividend to 30 cents per share (2016: 32 cents per 
share). 
 
The Directors are confident that future dividends will be fully-franked. 
 
Whilst the Company has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan in place, it has not been activated and is 
unlikely to be activated in the near term. 
 
 



 

 

 
 
Launch of new products 
 
In late April this year, PTM announced that it intended to launch two new Quoted Managed Funds in 
August 2017, which will allow investors to indirectly access the Platinum International Fund (22+ year 
track record) and the Platinum Asia Fund (14+ year track record) via the ASX (ASX codes: PIXX and 
PAXX respectively).  
 
We are pleased to report that these new products are expected to commence trading shortly. 
 
Investment into PTM’s UCITS and underlying ASX vehi cles 
 
The offshore UCITS fund (Platinum World Portfolios PLC) has continued to perform strongly since its 
launch in November 2015. As at 21 August 2017, the UCITS FUM totalled A$314 million, reflecting its 
strong investment performance since inception and also the work done by our core team of 
investment professionals in promoting the Platinum brand name offshore. 
 
Further evidence in the strength of the Platinum brand name, came in the form of capital raisings 
undertaken by the Platinum Group’s two LICs, Platinum Capital Limited (ASX code: PMC) and 
Platinum Asia Investments Limited (ASX code: PAI). PMC raised $70.1 million from a placement to 
institutional investors and a share purchase plan to existing investors. PAI announced that it raised a 
total of $66.2 million as a result of the exercise of options by PAI shareholders. 
 
Director Renewal 
 
In last year’s Chairman’s Report, I outlined a plan for Director renewal and additional Board 
replacements at a Non-Executive Director level.  
 
Since then, two Directors have retired under the Director renewal plan. Ms Anne Loveridge was 
appointed to the PTM Board during September 2016, and succeeded Ms Margaret Towers who 
retired from the Board after over nine years of service. Anne is currently a Non-Executive Director for 
the National Australia Bank (NAB) Group and NIB Holdings Limited and has over 30 years of 
experience as a former partner in the Financial Services Assurance practice at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC). 
 
On 19 June 2017, Mr Bruce Coleman retired from the Board after over ten years of service. With 
respect to Bruce’s replacement, we are continuing to speak with a number of highly qualified 
candidates and an announcement will be made in due course. 
 
The Board of PTM would like to extend its thanks to Margaret and Bruce for their invaluable 
contributions to the Board over an extended period of time. 
 
In accordance with good governance and the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and 
Recommendations, we intend to continue with our plan of Director renewal. Additional Board 
replacements, at a Non-Executive Director level, will likely be made in the future. 
 
The Board and its Associated Committees 
 
Both the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
had productive years. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has had to oversee changes to 
the composition of the Board and closely monitor the Company’s remuneration framework. 
 
The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee has provided invaluable input into many key areas of 
focus for the business including over-sight and focus on cyber security risk for the Platinum Group, 
identification of key risks and risk mitigation strategies for the quoted managed funds (QMF’s) and 
overseeing compliance with accounting standards including the appropriate accounting treatment with 
respect to the deconsolidation of Platinum World Portfolios PLC. 
 
 



 

 

 
 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
 
Platinum is an active participant in the global Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) which enables 
companies, cities, states and regions to measure their environmental impact. In addition, for over 10 
years, we have strived to make the firm “carbon neutral” via the purchase of sufficient carbon credits 
(which invest in rainforests) to offset the carbon emissions made by the Platinum group (for example 
our electricity usage and air travel). 
 
Even more significantly, Platinum now incorporates ESG considerations into its investment process 
by employing a robust framework that can lead to more informed and holistic decision-making and, 
ultimately, better investment outcomes for investors. I would encourage those interested in this topic 
to read our most recent Platinum Trust Funds PDS for more information.    
 
Conclusion  
 
The Managing Director’s Letter to Shareholders addresses the recent strong investment performance 
of the underlying funds, key initiatives that have been undertaken and the investment outlook. 
 
 
 
Michael Cole 
Chairman 
24 August 2017 



2017 Managing Director’s Letter to Shareholders 
 
It is a relief that I do not have to launch into an economic treatise, as I did last year, to take 
shareholders through the travails of managing money in a central bank-obsessed world. 
 
The concerns about economic growth have dissipated as activity spread and sped up. Yes, there are 
still concerns about excessive levels of debt and the likely consequences of central banks reducing 
their holdings of the assets they had purchased to prop up liquidity.  
 
Apart from the spreading warmth of economic expansion, the concerns around the Chinese economy 
have diminished. To many observers, China is seen as the likely source of the ‘next’ problem. 
However, it seems as though the policy position described by the leadership in the first half of last 
year has to a degree already percolated through the system. The most notable has been the closure 
of excess capacity in various industries, both to assist in pollution abatement and, equally, to allow a 
recovery in pricing power. There have been remarkable improvements in the pricing of various basic 
materials, from steel, cement, float glass to PVC, which have put the remaining players on a far 
healthier footing to meet their debt obligations. This in turn has softened concerns about the likely 
scale and state of non-performing loans in the banking system. At the same time, the vitality within the 
Chinese economy is causing some to recalibrate how China may be able to adjust to a world of tighter 
credit. Apart from solemn declarations about the central importance of a healthy financial system, the 
government has followed up with action to force aggressive private firms to reduce their indebtedness 
via asset sales. The purpose here is to reduce the risk to the large banks who may have acted as final 
guarantors on these entities’ foreign borrowings. As China is indubitably the largest contributor to 
overall world growth, this change of emphasis has profound consequences. 
 
Investment Performance 
 
As the prospects for growth have broadened, so have the opportunities across global stock markets. 
After a statistically abnormal period of US stock market leadership, of some eight years, other 
markets have taken up the running, most notably in Asia, much to the benefit of the positioning of 
Platinum’s funds and mandates. According to Morningstar’s global equity fund rankings, the Platinum 
Unhedged Fund and the Platinum International Brands Fund ranked first and second in their 
respective categories for the year to June 2017.1 Their respective returns were 32% and 28% for the 
12 months to 30 June 2017 (after fees and costs). Not much further down the list was the Platinum 
International Fund with a return of 21%.The MSCI AC World Net Index (A$) over this period returned 
15%.  
 
Over the last five years, our regionally-focused funds of Asia, Europe and Japan have each handily 
outperformed their respective benchmarks, after fees and expenses. The global funds and mandates 
have matched or outperformed their benchmarks even though they have carried protection of cash 
and, where permitted under the mandate, short positions. The tide has turned as far as we can 
gauge!  
 
Staff 
 
As a firm, we are remarkably blessed, in my view, by a team of individuals who really believe in the 
value we can add to those who put their trust in our hands. As the firm’s operation has grown in 
sophistication, we have been fortunate to add to the talent that has taken up the challenge of 
excellence. Although there is more specialisation within individual corporate functions, sometimes 
forced on us by a seemingly ever-growing burden of regulatory compliance in many guises, there has 
been no loss of cohesion or collective purpose. Shareholders may be inclined to regard these 
comments as standard corporate rhetoric, but I can assure you, it is not so.  
 
Of the 91 employees at the firm, 30 are employed in our engine room of managing clients’ money. 
The team has grown by 2 this year, and will likely expand further to meet the challenges of an ever-
wider choice of listed investments available to a global manager. Within the investment team, overall 

                                                           
1
 Platinum Unhedged Fund topped the Equity World Large Value category while the Platinum International Brands Fund 

ranked second in the Equity World Large Blend category. 



average tenure at Platinum remains high at 8 years, with portfolio managers averaging 16 years with 
the firm. 
 
The investment sub-teams are building a steady rhythm of idea generation and this bodes well for 
growing clients’ wealth. The quantitative systems employed in our investment process continue to 
evolve and strengthen in their capability to both assess possible opportunities and augment 
managers’ judgments. The dealing desk has continued to deepen the investment team’s market 
insights. 
 
Costs 
 
Staff costs account for about half of the firm’s outgoings. As we have described previously, there is a 
slight upward drift which reflects small increases in numbers and a scaling among members of the 
investment team to account for growing knowledge and skill. Last year we introduced a Deferred 
Bonus Plan which is applied across the firm for those leaders whom we believe will carry the 
company over the next decade. It entails issuing stock to participants with deferred vesting four years 
hence. These grants are made annually, performance permitting, to allow employees to gradually 
increase their ownership in the company.  
 
The Profit Share Plan was not activated this year. Under the Profit Share Plan, an additional pool of 
reward is made available to members of the investment team when the weighted return of funds 
under management (FUM) exceeds the relevant benchmark by more than 1% for both the last one 
year and the last three years.  
Apart from staff remuneration, most costs are largely in line with those of last year. Custody, 
administration and trustee costs have actually fallen. 
 
There is one peculiar line in the income statement which relates to the consolidation of the rise in the 
value of the three UCITS (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) funds 
that we seeded in November 2015 under the umbrella Platinum World Portfolios PLC. This appears 
under the heading of ‘Gains on financial assets’. This is an accounting convention to acknowledge 
that at the launch of these UCITS funds, we were the principal funder and hence the entities should 
be consolidated in the accounts. Please note that this entry is substantially countered at the bottom of 
the statement by an entry “Non-controlling interests’’ which reflects the after-tax effect of its earlier 
inclusion.   
 
Fees 
 
Having considered the changing nature of competition in our industry and the current popularity of 
exchange-traded funds (ETFs) and the like, together with the fall in some aspects of our costs, we 
decided to reset the fee base. As was announced to the ASX in April, we have used this opportunity 
to introduce a new performance fee option to the Platinum Trust Funds. This comes with a lower 
base fee, set at 1.1% (inclusive of GST), with the firm participating in 15% of the outperformance. 
Under the standard fee option, the previous management fee of 1.54% (inclusive of GST) has been 
cut to 1.35% (inclusive of GST).  
 
At this stage we cannot know how popular the new performance fee option will be. In our ASX 
release, we suggested that based on our historic ability to outperform benchmarks, we believe the 
performance option will prove no cheaper for unitholders over time. However, we feel some clients 
are attracted to the notion of a scalable fee that rewards evident long-term skill. 
 
The effect of the announced fee cuts, which became live at the start of the new financial year, is 
estimated to reduce our revenues, on a steady state basis, by A$24 million. However, it is very 
difficult to predict the full-year effect on profits as there are countering factors such as changes in 
FUM and prospective performance fees. 
 
Funds Under Management (FUM) – retention and growth 
 
There is still great interest in distribution power, presumably because of the influence that the ‘big five’ 
financial institutions exercise over financial advice in Australia. We are fully aware of this argument 



and, without underestimating the might of these organisations, we know that performance is the 
main attribute that generates FUM over time.  
 
In an investment world characterised by massive product proliferation, helped along by the present 
enthusiasm for ETFs and ‘passive’ investing, we understand the importance of our brand. The 
amount of choice is bewildering to all but the most enthusiastic investors. Those with a passing 
interest crave simplicity and seemingly convenient answers to rather complex choices. For them, 
name recognition and association is important. For investors with a deeper understanding of the 
complexity of investing, the attraction of our brand lies not only in past performance, but in the explicit 
enunciation of our stock-picking approach which is reinforced by our quarterly reports and online 
commentaries. These publications give investors an insight into the process and mentality that 
contribute to systematic long-term successful investing. 
 
While the term ‘brand’ is a much-abused concept, we know it can only have value if it is entrenched 
by authenticity of intent and action. We believe this is demonstrated by the emphasis we place on 
ongoing, considered communication with existing clients, rather than an emphatic drive for FUM 
gathering. 
 
It is nevertheless important that we communicate clearly and broadly the attributes of our products to 
prospective investors. There are apparently some 1.5 million Australian households who pay for 
professional financial planning, though this number has tended to fall over the last several years. It is 
therefore important that we provide these planners with the necessary understanding of the benefits 
we can bring to their clients’ portfolios.  
 
To this end, we have also enhanced the investment specialist team with an additional member, taking 
the team in the field to five. Via active participation they have added considerably to our interaction 
with financial advisors in Australia and New Zealand. As noted in the past, what distinguishes 
Platinum’s investment specialists is that these individuals are former investment analysts and can 
therefore speak authoritatively about our investment decisions and portfolios, rather than simply 
following a sales script that lacks depth and understanding.   
 
To add further to the quality of our communication in the field, individual portfolio managers and 
analysts accompany the investment specialists to visit advisory firms to give additional insights of 
changes taking place in specific industries. This in turn empowers financial advisors to speak more 
authoritatively to their clients. This tends to set us apart from the competition! In addition, we have an 
annual roadshow directed at the financial intermediaries. During the year, the team addressed 
approximately 3000 professional advisors covering 33 cities and towns around the country as they 
participated in the Financial Planning Association roadshow. 
 
Other important aspects of communication revolve around the rising sophistication of the firm’s 
website, a new version of which will launch in mid-September. The Journal, which contains topical 
investment subjects and video presentations from our investment professionals, is proving very 
popular – there is no harm in telling your friends about it! 
 
We hold a biannual meeting with clients where the emphasis is on conveying insights rather than 
being image-promoting jamborees. The efficacy of this open approach is revealed by the fact that as 
many as 15% of the audience are friends of unitholders who have been invited to learn about 
markets.  
 
The Irish-domiciled UCITS funds that we launched nearly two years ago are starting to attract 
attention. These three funds have now grown to A$314 million.2 We are currently exploring the 
establishment of a permanent representative office in Europe. Our strong performance and unique 
attributes provide a strong base to expand this business measurably. 
 
We are also pleased that our new quoted managed funds (QMFs) will shortly be launching in 
September. I made mention of this in last year’s letter. The two proposed QMFs are feeder funds that 
will feed into our unlisted managed funds, the Platinum International Fund and the Platinum Asia 
Fund. Both underlying funds have long track records of 22 years and 14 years respectively, and each 

                                                           
2
 As at 21 August 2017. 



has a history of substantial absolute and relative performance. Through the QMFs, investors can gain 
exposure to the same actively-managed, diversified portfolios as the underlying unlisted Platinum 
International Fund and the Platinum Asia Fund, but the QMFs allow investors the convenience of 
buying and selling units by placing orders on the ASX. As you are aware, the creeping hand of 
bureaucracy has made form-filling a national past time in the funds management industry. Through 
these listed entities, prospective investors can obviate the lengthy application form that currently 
confronts them. Furthermore, the QMFs provide investors the added advantage of knowing the fund’s 
indicative net asset value unit price before placing a trade, whereas the forward-pricing mechanism 
used by the unlisted managed funds means that unit prices are unknown at the time investors make 
their application.  
 
Fund Under Management ($mn, to 30 June 2017) 
 

Funds Opening 
Balance 
(1 July 
2016) 

Flows Investment 
Performance 

Distribution Closing 
Balance 
(30 June 

2017) 

% of 
total 

Retail offerings       

Platinum Trust Funds and Platinum 
Global Fund 

16,539 (2,548) 3,330 (1,072) 16,249 72 

Listed Investment Companies 
PMC and PAI 

616 103 139 - 858 4 

MLC Platinum Global Fund 918 (149) 192 - 961 4 

Institutional mandates       

Management Fee Mandates 1,849 (158) 398 - 2,089 9 

“Absolute” Performance Fee Mandates 548 (192) 118 - 474 2 

“Relative” Performance Fee Mandates 2,218 (621) 486 (1) 2,082 9 

TOTAL 22,688 (3,565) 4,663 (1,073) 22,713 100 

Source:  Platinum Investment Management Limited 

 
Outlook 
 
It is heartening to see a reversal of flows as investors focus on the unique offer we make regarding 
their longer term wealth aspirations. Australian investors are more aware than ever about the 
possibilities of global investing and the need for diversification. The launch of the UCITS puts us in a 
strong position to seek investors abroad and we are pursuing this with energy. We are also following 
other initiatives. 
 
As the firm’s very existence is predicated on markets being driven by fashion and crowding, please 
believe that our confidence in the future is driven by this understanding rather than complacency. The 
last several years of economic turmoil have been the most aberrant in our 23 year history. Despite 
this, our ability to add value is undiminished because of our rigour, discipline and mental agility. 
 
Kerr Neilson 
Managing Director 
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 21 August 2017. 
 
Distribution of equit y securities  
Analysis of number of equity security holders by size of holding: 
 
  Number   
  of holders   
  of ordinary   
  shares   
    
1 to 1,000  7,169  
1,001 to 5,000  16,204  
5,001 to 10,000  4,185  
10,001 to 100,000  2,477  
100,001 and over  74  
  30,109  
Holding less than a marketable parcel (less than $500)  316  
  
Equity security holders  
 
Twenty largest quoted equity security holders 
The names of the 20 largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 
 
  Ordinary shares  
     % of total 
     shares 
  Number held  issued  
J Neilson  156,037,421  26.60 
K Neilson  156,037,420  26.60 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  31,633,453  5.39 
Platinum Investment Management Limited (nominee)  29,364,201  5.01 
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  22,661,452  3.86 
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  14,031,322  2.39 
Jilliby Pty Limited  6,500,000  1.11 
J Clifford  5,000,000  0.85 
National Nominees Limited  4,307,744  0.73 
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited  3,298,589  0.56 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Limited  2,511,326  0.43 
Xetrov Pty Limited  2,000,000  0.34 
Pacific Custodians Pty Limited  1,626,027  0.28 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Limited  1,254,228  0.21 
Mrs Michele Martinez  1,072,309  0.18 
Navigator Australia Limited  1,058,093  0.18 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Limited  916,891  0.16 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Limited  910,000  0.16 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  890,721  0.15 
CS Third Nominees Pty Limited  886,472  0.15 
  441,997,669  75.34 

  
Unquoted equity securities 
There are no unquoted equity securities, however under the Deferred Incentive Plan, a total of 1,626,026 deferred rights 
have been allocated to eligible employees of Platinum, and on vesting and exercise of these rights, an equivalent number 
of PTM shares (that have already been acquired on-market) will be allocated to these employees. Therefore, no new 
shares will be issued under the Deferred Incentive Plan (please refer to the Remuneration Report and Note 20 for further 
details). 
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Substantial share holders  
The following parties have notified the Company that they have a substantial relevant interest in the ordinary shares of 
Platinum Asset Management Limited in accordance with section 671B of the Corporations Act 2001: 
 
  Ordinary shares  
     % of total  
     shares  
  Number held   issued  
     
J Neilson, K Neilson  312,074,841  53.2^ 
J Clifford, Moya Pty Limited, A Clifford  32,831,449  5.9^ 
 
^ based on the last substantial shareholder notice lodged. 
 
Voting rights  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
 
There are no other classes of equity securities. 
 
Employees that have been allocated deferred rights under the Deferred Incentive Plan, have no entitlement to vote, attend 
meetings of shareholders or receive dividends, until the deferred rights have been exercised (Refer to the Remuneration 
Report and Note 20 for further details). 
 
Distribution of Annual Report to Shareholders  
The Law allows for an "opt in" regime through which shareholders will receive a printed "hard copy" version of the Annual 
Report only if they request one. The Directors have decided to only mail out an Annual Report to those shareholders who 
have "opted in". 
 
Financial Calendar  
30 August 2017 - Ordinary shares trade ex-dividend 
31 August 2017 - Record (books close) date for dividend 
22 September 2017 - Dividend paid  
These dates are indicative and may be changed. 
 
Notice of Annual General M eeting  
The details of the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Platinum Asset Management Limited are: 
10am Thursday 16 November, 2017 
Fort Macquarie Room 
InterContinental Hotel Sydney 
117 Macquarie Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
Questions for the AGM  
If you would like to submit a question prior to the AGM to be addressed at the AGM, you may e-mail your question to 
invest@platinum.com.au. 
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The Directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter 
as the 'consolidated entity', ‘group’ or ‘Platinum’) consisting of Platinum Asset Management Limited (referred to hereafter 
as the 'Company' or 'parent entity') and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2017. 
 
Directors  
The following persons were Directors of Platinum Asset Management Limited during the whole of the financial year and up 
to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 
 
Michael Cole  Chairman and Non-Executive Director 
Stephen Menzies  Non-Executive Director 
Anne Loveridge  Non-Executive Director (appointed 22 September 2016) 
Kerr Neilson  Managing Director 
Andrew Clifford  Executive Director and Chief Investment Officer 
Elizabeth Norman  Executive Director and Director of Investor Services and Communications 
Andrew Stannard  Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer 
 
In accordance with the Board’s Plan for Director renewal, Margaret Towers and Bruce Coleman were Non-Executive 
Directors until their respective resignations on 22 September 2016 and 19 June 2017. Both Margaret Towers and Bruce 
Coleman were appointed as Directors in April 2007, on the same day that the Company became a public company, as a 
precursor to the Company’s ASX listing in May 2007. 
 
Company  Secretary  
Joanne Jefferies was appointed Company Secretary on 17 October 2016, replacing Mr Andrew Stannard who was the 
interim Company Secretary prior to Ms Jefferies’ appointment. 
 
Principal Activities  
The Company is the non-operating holding company of Platinum Investment Management Limited (“PIML”) and its 
controlled entities. Platinum Investment Management Limited, trading as Platinum Asset Management, operates a funds 
management business. The amount of money that we manage, so-called funds under management (“FUM”) is the key 
variable for the business and an important determinant of our profit. 
 
FUM at 30 June 2017 was $22.7 billion, which was similar to the 30 June 2016 closing FUM of $22.7 billion. Average FUM 
for the year decreased by 9.6% to $23.4 billion from an average FUM of $25.8 billion for the previous year. This fall in 
average FUM was due to net fund outflows more than offsetting the gains made from investment performance. 
 
Whilst net fund flows have been negative over the last year, it is pleasing to report that most of the Funds managed by the 
consolidated entity have delivered strong investment performance over the last 12 months, with some of our Funds 
delivering exceptional returns. For example, our global unhedged fund, Platinum Unhedged Fund delivered 31.72% for the 
12 months to 30 June 2017. Our flagship Fund, Platinum International Fund returned 21.34% for the 12 months to 30 June 
2017, outperforming its benchmark by 6.03%, proving that our tried and tested approach to managing money is working 
well. 
 
The signs from our overseas clients have been encouraging. Whilst growing the Irish offshore fund, Platinum World 
Portfolios Plc (“PWP”) is a long-term project, we are starting to gain traction. A period of just over 20 months has elapsed 
since PWP launched in November 2015, and total FUM for PWP is already A$314 million (as at 21 August 2017). PWP 
continues to attract strong interest. 
 
The decrease in average FUM from the previous corresponding period resulted in fee revenue of $312.5 million (2016: 
$337.9 million), which represents a decrease of 7.5%. 
 
Other investment income increased to $21.1 million (2016: $6.8 million) which was largely explained by gains generated 
from the investments in PWP and Platinum Asia Investments Limited of $16.6 million (2016: loss of $2.9 million). This was 
offset by the drop in foreign exchange gains on overseas bank accounts to $0.1 million from $5 million, as almost all of 
PIML’s foreign currency cash exposure was removed in December 2016, with all significant US Dollar balances being 
repatriated into Australian Dollar term deposits, due to the weakening US Dollar.  
 
Expenses increased marginally by 0.8% or $0.5 million relative to the previous year, driven mainly by increased staff costs 
offset by savings on custody and business development costs. Cost control remains a key focus of the business. 
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Profit before income tax expense was $270.6 million (2016: $282.2 million) which represents a decrease of 4.1% on the 
previous year. The profit after tax for the year was $192.6 million (2016: $199.9 million) which represents a decrease of 
3.6%. 
 
The consolidated entity is in a strong financial position, with a strong balance sheet. The most significant driver of 
sustainable future growth is, and will always be, the delivery of superior, long-term, risk adjusted returns for our clients. 
 
In May 2017, Platinum announced that it intended to launch two active Quoted Managed Funds (“QMFs”) offering an 
International Fund (ASX code: PIXX) and Asian regional Fund (ASX code: PAXX), both with an active investment strategy, 
in response to demand from the self-managed superannuation fund (SMSF) sector. The two Fund’s will be feeder funds 
into the master Platinum International Fund and Platinum Asia Fund and are expected to shortly commence trading. PIML 
has allocated $50 million to help seed these Funds, with an investment of $25 million in each Fund. 
 
Platinum remains an investment-led organisation. Provided that we can continue to deliver strong investment performance 
for our clients, there is good reason to believe that strong sustainable investment inflows will occur into our underlying 
Funds and we will continue to build on the early success of PWP to expand our presence in Europe. 
 
Our FUM will likely grow over time through the increasing trend for Australian investors to increase their exposure to world 
stock markets, the strengthening of our relationship with the professional investor community and accessing the continuing 
growth of the self-managed superannuation fund (SMSF) sector. 
 
Change in Fee Options  
Effective from 3 July 2017, PIML added a new performance fee option to each of its eight Platinum Trust Funds, whilst at 
the same time reducing the total fees and charges under the standard fee option for each of the Platinum Trust Funds and 
Platinum Global Fund. 
 
Under the new fee options for the Platinum Trust Funds, investors will now have the choice between: 
 

- a performance fee option, comprising a management fee of 1.10% per annum plus a relative outperformance fee 
of 15%; or 

- a standard fee option, comprising a management fee of 1.35% representing a reduction from the previous 
management costs rate of 1.50% per annum. This reduction benefits all new and existing investors into those 
products. Platinum Global Fund unitholders also benefit from this fee reduction. 

 
Dividends  
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors have declared a 15 cents per share ($87,757,931) fully-franked ordinary 
dividend, with a record date of 31 August 2017 and payable to shareholders on 22 September 2017. 
 
A fully-franked ordinary dividend of 15 cents per share ($87,913,098) was paid on 22 March 2017. 
 
A fully-franked ordinary dividend of 16 cents per share ($93,773,971) was paid on 22 September 2016. 
 
Significant Changes in the State of Affairs  
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year and up to the 
date of this report, other than the change in fee options as outlined above. 
 
Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year and Expected Results of O perations  
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance, not otherwise dealt with in 
this report or financial statements that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 
consolidated entity or the results of its operations in subsequent financial periods. 
 
Environmental Regulation  
The consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Commonwealth, State or Territory 
law. 
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Information on Directors  
Michael Cole    BEcon, MEcon, FFin 
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman and member of the Audit, Risk & Compliance and Nomination & 
Remuneration Committees since 10 April 2007. (Age 69) 
 
Mr Cole has over 39 years of experience in the investment banking and funds management industry. Mr Cole was an 
Executive Director/Executive Vice President at Bankers Trust Australia for over 10 years. Mr Cole is Chairman of Ironbark 
Capital Limited. 
  
Stephen Menzies    BEcon, LLB, LLM  
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chair of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee since 19 June 2017 and 
member of the Audit, Risk & Compliance and Nomination & Remuneration Committees since 11 March 2015. (Age 61) 
 
Mr Menzies is currently a Director of Century Australia Investments Limited and Freedom Insurance Group Limited and 
Chairman of the Centre for Quantum Computation & Communication Technology. Mr Menzies retired as a partner at 
Ashurst law firm in 2015 and until his retirement was consistently ranked as one of Australia's leading corporate lawyers. 
As Head of China Practice for Ashurst, Mr Menzies oversaw the Shanghai and Beijing offices of that firm. Previously, Mr 
Menzies was National Director for Enforcement at the Australian Securities Commission and has a long history in the funds 
management sector. Mr Menzies is a Director of Platinum World Portfolios Plc. 
 
Anne Loveridge  BA (Hons), FCA (Australia), FCA (England and Wales), GAICD 
Independent Non-Executive Director since 22 September 2016, Chair of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee since 24 
February 2017 and member of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee since 22 September 2016. (Age 55) 
 
Ms Loveridge is currently a Non-Executive Director for the National Australia Bank (NAB) Group and NIB Holdings Limited. 
Ms Loveridge retired as a partner and deputy chairman of PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) in 2015. At PwC, she had over 
30 years of experience in the Financial Services Assurance practice with a range of clients in banking, property, private 
equity and wealth management sectors. Ms Loveridge has extensive knowledge of financial and regulatory reporting, risk 
management, controls and compliance frameworks. 
 
Kerr Neilson    BCom, ASIP 
Managing Director since 12 July 1993. (Age 67) 
 
Mr Neilson was appointed as Managing Director upon incorporation. He is the Managing Director of Platinum Investment 
Management Limited. Prior to Platinum, Mr Neilson was an Executive Vice President at Bankers Trust Australia. Previously 
he worked in both the UK and South Africa in stockbroking. 
 
Andrew Clifford   BCom (Hons) 
Director and Chief Investment Officer since 8 May 2013. (Age 51) 
 
Mr Clifford joined Platinum as a co-founding member in 1994 in the capacity of Director of Platinum Investment 
Management Limited and Deputy Chief Investment Officer. Previously he was a Vice President at Bankers Trust Australia 
covering Asian equities and managing the BT Select Market Trust - Pacific Basin Fund. In May 2013, Mr Clifford was 
appointed Chief Investment Officer. Mr Clifford is co-manager of Platinum International Fund with Kerr Neilson. 
 
Elizabeth Norman   BA, Graduate Diploma in Financial Planning 
Director of Investor Services and Communications since 8 May 2013. (Age 49) 
 
Ms Norman joined Platinum in February 1994 in a role of Investor Services and Communications Manager. Previously she 
worked at Bankers Trust Australia in product development and within the retail funds management team. Ms Norman's role 
as a Director of Investor Services and Communications reflects the widening of Platinum's client base and the consolidated 
entity's commitment to supporting retail and institutional clients with dedicated investment specialists. 
  
Andrew Stannard   BMS(Hons), Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment, CA 
Director and Chief Financial Officer since 10 August 2015. (Age 50) 
  
Mr Stannard joined Platinum from AllianceBernstein where he held the position of Chief Financial Officer for the Asia-
Pacific region. Mr Stannard has 27 years of finance experience with expertise in audit, financial control, operations, funds 
management, financial services regulation and corporate governance. 
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Meetings of Directors  
The number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors (“the Board”) and of each Board committee held during the 
year ended 30 June 2017, and the number of meetings attended by each Director were: 
  

 
 

Board 
Nomination & Remuneration 

Committee 
Audit, Risk & Compliance 

Committee 
  Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held 
    
Michael Cole  5 6 3 3 6 6 
Stephen Menzies  4 6 3 3 5 6 
Anne Loveridge (from 22 
September 2016) 

 
3 3 2 2 4 4 

Margaret Towers (until 22 
September 2016) 

 
2 3 1 1 2 2 

Bruce Coleman (until 19 June 
2017) 

 
5 6 3 3 6 6 

Kerr Neilson  4 6 - - - - 
Andrew Clifford  5 6 - - - - 
Elizabeth Norman  6 6 - - - - 
Andrew Stannard  6 6 - - - - 
  
Indemnity and Insurance of Officers  
During the year, the Company incurred a premium in respect of a contract for indemnity insurance for the Directors and 
Officers of the Company named in this report. 
  
Indemnity and Insurance of A uditor  
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 
  
During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity. 
 
Non-Audit Services  
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor 
are outlined in Note 19 to the financial statements. 
  
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
The Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements do not compromise 
the external auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
●  all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity 

of the auditor; and 
●  none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110: Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board. 
 

 
Rounding of Amounts  
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this 
report have been rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the 
nearest dollar. 
  
Auditor's Independence Declaration  
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
on page 17. 
  
Auditor  
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 
2001. 
  
On behalf of the Directors 
  
     
     
     
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Michael Cole  Kerr Neilson 
Chairman  Director 
     
24 August 2017   
Sydney   
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Introduction 
The Company's Directors present the Remuneration Report prepared in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations 
Act 2001 for the Company and consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2017. The Remuneration Report forms part of 
the Directors’ Report. 
 
The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited by the Company's auditor, Pricewaterhouse-  
Coopers, as required by section 308 (3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Summary of Remuneration Outcomes for 2017 

• Whilst the performance of our underlying funds has been excellent, the decline in earnings per share and profit 
negatively impacted the variable compensation paid to all Platinum employees. With the exception of a few, high 
performing individuals and changes in responsibilities, variable compensation was generally flat for most employees 
year on year and salary increases modest; 

• The Managing Director waived his ability to receive a variable award in 2017 and this was ratified by the Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee; 

• Despite strong absolute and relative performance over the last 12 months of Platinum International Fund, Platinum’s 
Chief Investment Officer and Co-Manager of Platinum International Fund, Andrew Clifford also did not receive a 
variable award in 2017, because his incentives are based on a weighted average 1 year and 3 year 
outperformance; 

• Only two members of Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) received a variable cash award in 2017, being the 
Director of Investment Services and Communications, Elizabeth Norman and the Finance Director, Andrew 
Stannard;  

• There were no payments made under the Profit Share Plan (“PSP”) or under the Long Term Incentive Plans to any 
staff; and 

• In the current year, variable awards under the Deferred Incentive Plan were made to 27 employees which totalled 
$4.875 million. In accordance with accounting standards, the accounting impact of these awards has been 
expensed through the profit and loss statement over the five year service period of the award, so the expense 
impact is smoothed. PTM shares were acquired by an Employee Share Trust on-market so the awards did not dilute 
existing shareholders. 
 

Key Management Personnel ("KMP") 
For the purposes of this report, KMP of the consolidated entity in office at any time during the financial year were: 
 
Name   Position  
Michael Cole  Chairman and Non-Executive Director 
Stephen Menzies Non-Executive Director 
Anne Loveridge  Non-Executive Director (from 22 September 2016) 
Margaret Towers Non-Executive Director (until 22 September 2016) 
Bruce Coleman  Non-Executive Director (until 19 June 2017) 
Kerr Neilson  Managing Director 
Andrew Clifford  Executive Director and Chief Investment Officer (CIO) 
Elizabeth Norman Executive Director and Director of Investor Services and Communications 
Andrew Stannard Executive (Finance) Director 
 
There were no other employees that held a KMP position within the Company or consolidated entity. 
 
Shareholders' Approval of the 2016 (prior year) Rem uneration Report 
A 25% or higher "no" vote on the Remuneration Report at an AGM triggers a reporting obligation on a listed company to 
explain in its next Annual Report how concerns are being addressed. At the last AGM, the Company’s Remuneration Report 
was carried on a poll and received a vote in favour of 95.33%. Platinum takes the opportunity to fully explain the basis and 
structure of the remuneration paid to KMP. 
 
Guiding Principles of KMP and Staff Remuneration 
The business of Platinum is to manage clients’ money with the goal of providing superior investment returns over the 
medium to long-term. Platinum’s position is simple: if Platinum continues to responsibly and successfully manage the money 
of its clients then, over time, the Funds Under Management (“FUM”) of the firm will increase, and so will the profits of the 
Platinum consolidated entity.  In the last twelve months, the Investment team has delivered strong absolute returns, whilst 
delivering downside protection and our portfolio managers remain comfortable with the composition of the portfolios. 



Platinum Asset Management Limited    
Remuneration R eport    
30 June 2017    
 

  

  
10 

 
 

Consideration is given to overall returns earned by all clients, as well as the contribution made by individual members of the 
investment team as a result of their specific investment ideas.  
The performance of other essential members of the Platinum team, such as client services and corporate and fiduciary 
functions, are assessed against pre-determined operational performance indicators that are relevant to each employee. 
Platinum’s Remuneration Policy aims to reward staff in line with the contribution that they have made to deliver these 
objectives and outcomes. 

We are conscious of the need to align remuneration outcomes with shareholder returns and indeed some firms prefer to 
focus on simpler performance metrics such as Total Shareholder Return (TSR) as a basis for designing KMP and employee 
remuneration structures. TSR measures share price appreciation or depreciation plus dividend reinvestment between two 
points in time. Whilst, over long periods of time, TSR will usually reflect the underlying performance of a company’s 
business, it is Platinum’s view that there are a number of issues in using TSR as a variable in employee remuneration. 
Shorter term variables, such as the macroeconomic environment or interest rates, are factors outside of the control of 
employees, but can overwhelm underlying developments in the business, and determine a Company’s share price. The 
result is that employees may be either unduly rewarded or punished by variables outside of their control. The use of TSR as 
an incentive, in our view, may encourage a focus on short-term outcomes such as current year earnings, or short-term 
investment returns, potentially at the expense of longer term business outcomes. 

Structure of Remuneration for Executive Directors a nd all Platinum staff  

Fixed remuneration  consists of salary and compulsory superannuation contributions. Salaries approximate market rates 
and take into account the contribution, skill and experience of each employee. 
  
Variable remuneration in 2017 consists of performance related short-term incentive payments and profit share amounts. 
Variable awards are discretionary and are approved after assessing individual performance against a range of qualitative 
and quantitative factors specific to each employee. Variable compensation may take the form of an annual cash payment or 
deferred award and are designed to reward superior performance. Platinum has established various Short-Term Incentive 
Plans (“STIP”), as the basis for rewarding staff. These are discussed below. 
 
Short-Term Incentive Plans 
 
Investment Team Plan (applies to members of the investment team only) 
A remuneration framework for investment team variable compensation is overseen by the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee. Under this framework, the award pool was determined as a percentage of the aggregate base salary of the 
investment team. The percentage level was related to the average of 1 year and 3 year outperformance of all funds under 
management. For each 1% increase in this average outperformance, the pool is increased by 20% and is then capped when 
average outperformance is 5% or more. 
  
The pool is then allocated across members of the investment team based on performance assessments that are based on 
both quantitative and qualitative measures. In a period where there is aggregate underperformance of client funds, annual 
awards for investment team members are then determined by an individual assessment of each employee’s contribution to 
the investment team during the period. Quantitative measures used to assess individual performance include the 
performance of any portfolios under the management of an individual and the performance of individual investment ideas 
that have been proposed. Investment performance is usually assessed over a 1 year and 3 year time frame and is relative to 
an appropriate benchmark. As the weighted average 1 and 3 year investment returns were below benchmark in the current 
and prior year, no amount was applied from the pool for this 2017 year and the annual performance awards for investment 
team members were instead determined by an individual assessment of each employee’s contribution to the investment 
team during the period. No amount from the pool was allocated or paid to the Managing Director, Kerr Neilson or Chief 
Investment Officer, Andrew Clifford. 
  
Profit Share Plan (“PSP”) (applies to members of the investment team only) 
The Nomination & Remuneration Committee ratified the PSP in 2014. The PSP was designed to reward key members of the 
team for helping in the development of Platinum’s business through strong investment performance (relative to 
benchmarks). Individual members of the investment team were issued notional units in the profit share plan. The notional 
units have no capital value and cannot be sold or transferred to a third party. Notional units are adjusted each year based 
upon the assessment of each staff member’s long-term contribution potential to the future development of Platinum. Each 
year the profit share percentage is determined based upon the weighted average 1 year and 3 year outperformance of all 
funds under management. For example, if the average of the 1 and 3 year rolling performance of our Funds exceeds the 
weighted benchmark by 2.5%, then 1.5% of the Company’s fee-based net profit before tax is made available to this pool.   
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There is no profit share until weighted average 1 year and 3 year outperformance is greater than 1%, inclusive of prior year 
underperformance carry forward. The profit share figure is limited to 5% of profit before tax, though the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee may elect to carry this over to future periods if investment returns indicate a profit share in excess 
of the 5% level. There were no payments made under the Profit Share Plan in the current or prior year.  
 
General Employee Plan (applies to non-investment team staff) 
Performance was assessed against pre-determined operational performance indicators relevant to each employee as 
assessed by the Directors of the Platinum consolidated entity and ratified by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 
These performance indicators took into account the responsibilities, skill and experience of each employee and their 
contribution during the year, and emphasised the fact that the business is run extremely efficiently with a total number of 
employees of 91, despite total FUM at 30 June 2017 being $22.7 billion. Other than the named Executive Directors 
disclosed in this Report, variable cash awards paid to employees in 2017 were generally flat and salary increases limited. 
  
Deferred Incentive Plan (applies to all staff) 
In June 2016, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee approved the implementation of the Deferred Incentive Plan. The 
main objectives of the Plan are to recognise the contributions made by key employees and to retain their skills within the 
firm. Eligible employees are selected by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee during the annual award cycle and the 
proportion of each short-term incentive award that is deferred varies by employee. The number of deferred rights are 
determined by dividing the discretionary deferred award amount allocated to each eligible employee by the PTM share price, 
using a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the PTM shares over the seven (7) trading days prior to the grant 
acceptance date. If an eligible employee remains employed at Platinum after the four year vesting period expires, the 
employee has a further five years to exercise their deferred right. If an employee resigns from Platinum before they have 
met the service condition then, in most circumstances, the deferred rights will be forfeited.  
  
An award of deferred rights was made in June 2016 and an additional award was made in June 2017. It is anticipated that 
further grants will occur in the future, most likely in June of each year. In order to satisfy the obligation to the Company that 
arises from the granting of deferred awards, the Company intends, over time, to purchase shares on-market and hold these 
shares within an Employee Share Trust.  On vesting, eligible employees will receive one ordinary share in PTM from the 
Employee Share Trust in satisfaction of each of their rights. No amount is payable by any eligible employee on either grant 
or on exercise. There is flexibility for the Board to pay cash to the eligible employee on vesting, but the current plan 
envisages allocating PTM shares only.  
  
Eligible employees will have no voting or dividend rights until their deferred rights have been exercised and their shares 
have been allocated. However, the deferred rights also carry an entitlement to a dividend equivalent payment. Upon the 
valid exercise of a deferred right, or deemed exercise, of a deferred right, an eligible employee will be entitled to receive an 
amount approximately equal to the amount of dividends that would have been paid to the eligible employee had they held 
the share from the grant date to the date that the deferred rights are exercised.  
  
In the current year, the value of deferred incentives granted was $4,875,000 (2016: $3,550,000). The number of rights to 
PTM shares allocated in the current year was 1,050,656 rights. The Employee Share Trust has purchased 1,050,656 PTM 
shares and will hold these shares until the vesting date (four years from the grant date) and subsequent exercise. 
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A summary of the grants of deferred rights made in 2017 and 2016 appears in the table below 
 
  2017 grant   2016 grant   Total  
     
Value of Deferred Awards converted to deferred rights ($)  4,875,000 3,550,000 8,425,000 
     
Total number of new deferred rights allocated to employees  1,050,656 591,578 1,642,234 
     
Total number of deferred rights cancelled   - (16,208) (16,208) 
 
Total number of deferred rights allocated to employees at 30 June 2017 

 
1,050,656 575,370 1,626,026 

Volume-Weighted Average Price (VWAP) of PTM shares over the seven (7) trading 
days prior to grant date ($) 

 
4.64 6.17 n/a 

     
Estimated number of deferred rights expected to vest based on assessment at 
balance date (%) 

 
87% 87% 87% 

     
Grant Date  20 June 2017 20 June 2016 n/a 
     
Vesting Date  20 June 2021 20 June 2020 n/a 
     
Service period used to determine accounting expense  5 years 5 years 5 years 
     
Accounting expense ($)  848,250 600,300 1,448,550 
 
Long-Term Incentive Plans  
  
Platinum has two long-term incentive plans in place, being: 

- Options and Performance Rights Plan (OPRP); and 
- Fund Appreciation Rights Plan (FARP). 

  
There was no allocation under either plan in the current or prior year, as we consider that the Deferred Incentive Plan is a 
better way of advancing the business, by providing an incentive for key employees to remain with Platinum. 
 
Managing Director and other Senior Executive Remune ration in the 2017 Year 
 
Managing Director Remuneration 
Kerr Neilson continued to waive his ability to receive variable compensation. This has been ratified by the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee. 
  
Other Senior Executive Remuneration 
Andrew Clifford’s variable compensation was based on his role as Platinum’s Chief Investment Officer and Co-Manager of 
Platinum International Fund and is based on the Investment Team Plan. 
  
Despite strong absolute and relative performance over the last 12 months of Platinum International Fund, Platinum’s Chief 
Investment Officer and Co-Manager of Platinum International Fund, Andrew Clifford did not receive a variable award in 
2017, as his incentives are generally based on a weighted average 1 year and 3 year outperformance. 
  
The variable compensation paid to Elizabeth Norman reflected her role as Director of Investor Services and 
Communications and her leadership and involvement in the development of several initiatives during the year, including the 
new Quoted Managed Funds, new website design and expanding our communication efforts with both advisors and 
investors. 
  
The variable compensation paid to Andrew Stannard reflected the leadership and strategic input that he provided into 
various development opportunities for the business, including overseeing the launch of the Quoted Managed Funds and 
associated legal and regulatory requirements associated with enhancing our corporate communications to analysts and 
shareholders.  
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Details of remuneration of Executive Directors  
The table below presents the remuneration provided by the consolidated entity to the Executive Directors of the 
consolidated entity, in accordance with accounting standards. 
  

Cash 
Salary 

$ 

 
Other 

(1) 

$ 

 
Superannuation 

 
$ 

Short-term 
Incentive 

(cash) 
(2) 

$ 

Short-term 
Incentive 

(deferred) 
(2) 

 

Long-term 
Incentives 

(3) 

$ 

 
Total 

 
$ 

2017        
Kerr Neilson (4) 450,000 (18,089) 19,616 - - - 451,527 
Andrew Clifford 425,000 (13,206) 19,616 - - - 431,410 
Elizabeth Norman 400,000 9,250 19,616 1,200,000 104,400 - 1,733,266 
Andrew Stannard 400,000 11,009 19,616 400,000 17,400 - 848,025 
 1,675,000 (11,036) 78,464 1,600,000 121,800 - 3,464,228 
2016        
Kerr Neilson (4) 450,000 19,392 19,308 - - - 488,700 
Andrew Clifford 425,000 19,162 19,308 - - - 463,470 
Elizabeth Norman 400,000 22,429 19,308 1,100,000 52,200 - 1,593,937 
Andrew Stannard (5) 358,976 5,954 19,308 300,000 - - 684,238 
(from 10 August 2015)        
 1,633,976 66,937 77,232 1,400,000 52,200 - 3,230,345 

(1) represents the increase/(decrease) in the accounting provision for annual and long service leave. These amounts were not 
received by the Executive Directors and represent provisions made in the consolidated entity's statement of financial position. 

(2) see the “Short-Term Incentive Plans” section above for further details. The short-term incentive attributable to Elizabeth Norman 
is comprised of (i) cash incentive of $1,200,000 and (ii) the accounting valuation of $104,400 attributable to Elizabeth Norman 
with respect to the aggregate allocation of 113,279 deferred rights under the Deferred Incentive Plan, made in 2017 (award 
amount: $300,000) and 2016 (award amount: $300,000). The accounting valuation of $104,400 represents the current year 
portion of the accounting fair value attributed to Elizabeth Norman, which will be spread over the five year service period. 
The short-term incentive attributable to Andrew Stannard is comprised of (i) cash incentive of $400,000 and (ii) the accounting 
valuation of $17,400 attributable to Andrew Stannard with respect to the allocation of 21,552 deferred rights under the Deferred 
Incentive Plan, made in 2017 (award amount: $100,000). The accounting valuation of $17,400 represents the current year 
portion of the accounting fair value attributed to Andrew Stannard, which will be spread over the five year service period. 

(3) There were no long-term incentives (options or fund appreciation rights) granted in the current or prior year. 
(4) The Managing Director, Kerr Neilson, waived his right to receive variable compensation and this has been ratified by the 

Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 
(5) The remuneration of Andrew Stannard in the prior year covers the period from the date of his appointment on 10 August 2015 to 

30 June 2016. 
 

Components of Remuneration  
The table below illustrates the relative proportions of fixed and variable remuneration as a percentage of total remuneration 
extrapolated from the "Details of remuneration of Executive Directors" table.  
 
 Fixed remuneration as a percentage of 

total remuneration (1) 
Variable remuneration as a 

percentage of total remuneration (2) 
2017   
Kerr Neilson 100% 0% 
Andrew Clifford 100% 0% 
Elizabeth Norman 25% 75% 
Andrew Stannard 51% 49% 
2016   
Kerr Neilson 100% 0% 
Andrew Clifford 100% 0% 
Elizabeth Norman 28% 72% 
Andrew Stannard 56% 44% 
 

(1) Fixed remuneration refers to salary, superannuation and provisions or payments made for annual and long service 
leave. 

(2) Variable remuneration refers to short and long-term incentive payments. Only short-term incentive payments were 
made in the current year (being cash incentive payments and accounting valuations attributed to the allocation of 
deferred rights to Elizabeth Norman and Andrew Stannard). 
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Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors  
Remuneration Policy 
The Company’s remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors is designed to ensure that the Company can attract and 
retain suitably-qualified and experienced directors.  
  
It is the policy of the Board to remunerate at market rates. Non-Executive Directors received a fixed fee and mandatory 
superannuation payments. Non-Executive Directors do not receive variable compensation and are not eligible to participate 
in any equity-based incentive plans. The Executive Directors examine the base pay of the Non-Executive Directors annually 
and may utilise the services of an external advisor. 
  
The Executive Directors determined the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors within the maximum approved 
shareholder limit. The aggregate amount of remuneration that can be paid to the Non-Executive Directors, which was 
approved by shareholders at a general meeting in April 2007, was $2 million per annum (including superannuation). 
  
No other retirement benefits (other than mandatory superannuation) are provided to the Non-Executive Directors. There are 
no termination payments payable on the cessation of office and any Director may retire or resign from the Board, or be 
removed by a resolution of shareholders. The Constitution of the Company requires approval by shareholders at a general 
meeting of a maximum amount of remuneration to be paid to the Non-Executive Directors. 
  
Remuneration Structure 
From 1 April 2015, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee recommended the Non-Executive Director remuneration 
structure change to a model that aligns with the various roles and responsibilities that the Non-Executive Directors perform 
in relation to their work-load and attendance at the Board and Board Committees. 
  
This structure is better-aligned with other ASX 200 companies, where the specific role is identified and the remuneration 
component is allocated to that role. This change occurred from 1 April 2015, without an increase in the overall amount paid 
to the individual Non-Executive Directors. The structure aligns the remuneration paid to each Non-Executive Director to their 
responsibilities and roles. 
  
Pursuant to the plan of Director renewal that was announced by the PTM Board on 25 August 2016, in accordance with 
good governance and ASX guidelines, two of the Non-Executive Directors that were first appointed when the Company 
became a public company, in April 2007, resigned during the year, being Margaret Towers (resigned on 22 September 
2016) and Bruce Coleman (resigned on 19 June 2017).  
  
Below is a consequential summary of the personnel changes within each of the Board’s sub-committees. 
 
Name Audit, Risk & 

Compliance Committee 
Nomination & 
Remuneration 
Committee 

Margaret Towers Chair until 22 September 
2016. 

Member until 22 
September 2016. 

Bruce Coleman Interim Chair between 22 
September 2016 and 24 
February 2017. 

Chair for the financial 
year up until 19 June 
2017. 

Anne Loveridge Member since the date 
of joining the Board on 
22 September 2016 until 
24 February 2017 and 
Chair from 24 February 
2017. 

Member since the date 
of joining the Board on 
22 September 2016. 

Stephen Menzies Member for the full 
financial year. 

Member until 19 June 
2017 and Chair from 19 
June 2017. 

 
The following table displays the current Non-Executive Directors and their roles at 30 June 2017: 
Non-Executive Director  Michael Cole  Anne Loveridge  Stephen Menzies  
Board Chair Member Member 
Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee 

Member Chair Member 

Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee 

Member Member Chair 
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The table below shows how the remuneration is allocated reflecting their roles at 30 June 2017. 
  
Non-Executive Director  Michael Cole  Anne Loveridge  Stephen Menzies  
Board $170,000 $130,000 $130,000 
Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee 

$15,000 $30,000 $15,000 

Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee 

$15,000 $15,000 $30,000 

Total  $200,000 $175,000 $175,000 
 

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors  
The table below presents actual amounts received by the Non-Executive Directors. 
 
  

Cash Salary 
$ 

 
Superannuation 

$ 

Short-term 
Incentives 

$ 

Long-term 
Incentives 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
2017      
Michael Cole 200,000 19,000 - - 219,000 
Stephen Menzies 160,519 15,249 - - 175,768 
Anne Loveridge (from 22 September 2016) 129,308 12,284 - - 141,592 
Margaret Towers (until 22 September 2016) 43,750 4,156 - - 47,906 
Bruce Coleman (until 19 June 2017) 175,597 16,678 - - 192,275 
      
 709,174 67,367 - - 776,541 
      
      
2016      
Michael Cole 200,000 19,000 - - 219,000 
Margaret Towers 175,000 16,625 - - 191,625 
Bruce Coleman 175,000 16,625 - - 191,625 
Stephen Menzies  160,000 15,200 - - 175,200 
      
 710,000 67,450 - - 777,450 
 
Stephen Menzies is Platinum Investment Management Limited’s (PIMLs) nominee on the Board of the offshore UCITS fund, 
Platinum World Portfolios Plc (PWP) and payments are made directly by PWP. Amounts paid in the current year were 
€20,000 (equivalent to A$28,908) (2016: €10,000 (equivalent to A$14,605)). Of this amount, €10,000 (equivalent to 
$14,699) was paid from 1 July 2016 to 26 January 2017 (the date of deconsolidation of PWP from the Platinum consolidated 
entity). 
 
Managing Director and other Senior Executive employ ment agreements  
The key aspects of the KMP contracts are outlined below: 
  

• Remuneration and other terms of employment for Non-Executive Directors are formalised in letters of appointment. 
• All contracts (both Executive and Non-Executive) include the components of remuneration that are to be paid to 

KMP and provide for annual review, but do not prescribe how remuneration levels are to be modified from year to 
year. 

• The tenure of all Directors, except for the Managing Director, is subject to approval by shareholders at every third 
AGM or other general meeting convened for the purposes of election of Directors. 

• In the event of termination, all KMP are entitled to receive their statutory leave entitlements and superannuation 
benefits. In relation to incentive plans, upon termination, where an Executive resigns, short-term incentives are only 
paid if the Executive is employed at the date of payment. The Board retains discretion to still make short-term 
incentive payments in certain exceptional circumstances, such as bona-fide retirement. 

• All Executive Directors can terminate their appointment by providing three months’ notice. 
• Non-Executive Directors may resign by written notice to the Chairman and where circumstances permit, it is 

desirable that reasonable notice of an intention to resign is given to assist the Board in succession planning. 
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Link between performance and remuneration paid by t he consolidated entity 
 
 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 
      
Revenue ($'000) 333,549 344,658 360,422 319,796 232,152 
Expenses ($'000) 62,971 62,464 58,872 58,751 48,983 
Operating profit after tax ($'000) 192,647 199,870 213,499 189,867 129,112 
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 31.74 34.24 36.66 32.79 22.92 
Total dividends (cents per share) 30 32 47 34 22 
Total aggregate fixed remuneration paid ($) (1) 2,558,913 2,518,991 2,362,901 2,346,251 1,832,625 
Total aggregate variable remuneration paid ($) (2) 1,721,800 1,452,200 1,125,000 2,554,650 852,500 
 

(1) Total aggregate fixed remuneration paid represents salaries and superannuation (and includes the Director’s Fees 
disclosed and paid to Stephen Menzies for his Directorship of the UCITS fund). The total aggregate fixed 
remuneration figure is higher in the last four financial years (2017-2014) because two new Directors were appointed 
in May 2013 and therefore the remuneration over the last four years reflects the appointment of two additional 
Directors. 

 
(2) Total aggregate variable remuneration paid represents short-term incentive awards. The variable remuneration 

figure was highest in 2014 primarily because a Profit Share Plan (PSP) incentive allocation was made to Andrew 
Clifford in that year. The increase in total aggregate variable remuneration in 2017 reflects the work done (primarily 
by Elizabeth Norman and Andrew Stannard) in launching several key initiatives, including the Quoted Managed 
Funds, which will help the business grow over time. 

 
Interests of Non-Executive and Executive Directors in shares 
The relevant interest in ordinary shares of the Company that each Director held at balance date was: 
 
 Opening balance  Additions  Disposals  Closing balance  
     
Michael Cole 200,000 - - 200,000 
Stephen Menzies 30,000 - - 30,000 
Anne Loveridge 6,000 - - 6,000 
Kerr Neilson 312,074,841 - - 312,074,841 
Andrew Clifford 32,831,449 - - 32,831,449 
Elizabeth Norman 766,748 - - 766,748 
Andrew Stannard - - - - 

 
There were no additions or disposals made during the year by any of the Directors. 
 
Directors' interests in contracts 
The Directors received remuneration that is ultimately derived from net income arising from Platinum Investment 
Management Limited's investment management contracts. 
 
Use of external remuneration consultants 
In the prior year, the consolidated entity engaged the services of PricewaterhouseCoopers to provide the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee with recommendations associated with the implementation of the Deferred Incentive Plan. In the 
current year, the Company continued to utilise the services of PricewaterhouseCoopers to assist with implementation of the 
Plan. The amount paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the provision of these services in FY 2017 was $52,870 
(2016: $46,433). 
 
Other related party payments involving KMP 
In the current year, the consolidated entity paid $200,000 to OneVue Services Pty Limited for the provision of services 
associated with the build, customisation and enhancement of the Platinum web-site. OneVue is a related entity of the 
Chairman of Platinum Asset Management Limited, Mr Michael Cole. 
 
 



  
PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY  NSW  2001 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Platinum Asset Management Limited for the year ended 30 June 2017, 
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Platinum Asset Management Limited and the entities it controlled 
during the period. 

  

R Balding Sydney 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
  

24 August 2017 
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General information  
 
The financial statements cover Platinum Asset Management Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Platinum Asset 
Management Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars, which is Platinum Asset Management Limited's functional and presentation currency. 
 
Platinum Asset Management Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Its registered office and principal place of business is: 
 
Level 8, 7 Macquarie Place   
Sydney NSW 2000   
  
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities are included in the Directors' 
report, which is not part of the financial statements. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 24 August 2017. The 
Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
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    Consolidated  
  Note  2017  2016 
    $'000  $'000 
       

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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Revenue        
Management fees    296,391  319,633 
Performance fees    1,626  2,613 
Administration fees    14,451  15,648 
    312,468  337,894 
Other income  
Interest    4,341  4,068 
Gains/(losses) on equity investments in associates  21  9,736  (2,254) 
Gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    6,779  (661) 
Net foreign exchange gains on overseas bank accounts    149  5,142 
Net gains on forward currency contracts, dividends and distributions    76  469 
Total revenue and other income    333,549  344,658 
  
Expense s        
Staff    34,242  30,443 (27,900)
Custody, administration, trustee and unit registry    11,992  14,219 (16,268)
Business development    4,080  5,784 
Research    2,032  2,117 
Rent and other occupancy    1,862  1,647 
Technology    1,675  1,734 
Share-based payments  20  1,449  635 
Legal and compliance    1,419  1,383 
Other professional    902  963 
Depreciation  8  895  965 
Mail house and periodic reporting    862  727 
Insurance    468  500 
Share registry    459  593 
Audit fee   19  425  463 
Other    209  291 
Total expenses    62,971  62,464 (58,872)
  
Profit before income tax expense     270,578  282,194 
  
Income tax expense  4  77,931  82,324 
  
Profit after income tax expense for the year     192,647  199,870 
  
Other comprehensive income        
      
Exchange rate translation impact of foreign subsidiaries  13  406  (422) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    406  (422) 

 

  
Total comprehensive income for the year     193,053  199,448 

  
Profit after income tax expense for the year is attributable to:       
Owners of Platinum Asset Management Limited    186,026  200,887 
Non-controlling interests    6,621  (1,017) 
    192,647  199,870 
 
    Cents  Cents  
Basic earnings per share  29  31.74  34.24 
Diluted earnings per share  29  31.74  34.24 
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Assets        
       
Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents    154,263  119,079 
Equity investments in associates  21  91,692  47,746 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  6  107  49,452 
Term deposits    74,876  138,518 
Trade and other receivables  7  30,199  29,900 
Total current assets    351,137  384,695 
       
Non-current assets        
Fixed assets  8  2,829  2,628 
Total non-current assets    2,829  2,628 
       
Total assets     353,966  387,323 
  
Liabilities        
       
Current liabilities        
Trade and other payables  9  6,255  7,841 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  10  -  182 
Income tax payable    7,866  10,766 
Employee benefits  11  3,261  3,129 
Total current liabilities    17,382  21,918 
       
Non-current liabilities        
Provisions  11  461  199 
Net deferred tax liabilities  5  1,049  995 
Total non-current liabilities    1,510  1,194 
       
Total liabilities     18,892  23,112 
  
Net assets     335,074  364,211 

  
Equity        
Issued capital  12  742,933  747,717 
Reserves  13  (585,818) (587,764)
Retained profits  14  177,959  175,522 
       
Total equity attributable to the owners of Platinum Asset Manage ment Limited     335,074  335,475 
 
Total equity attributable to non -controlling interests:        
Non-controlling interests  30  -  28,736 
       
Total equity     335,074  364,211 
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Issued 
 

 
 

Retained  
Non- 

controlling  Total 
  capital  Reserves  profits  interests  equity 

Consolidated  $'000  $'000  $'000 $'000 $'000 
         
Balance at 1 July 2015  751,355 (588,014) 185,839 - 349,180 
       
Profit after income tax expense for the year  - - 200,887 (1,017) 199,870 
       
Other comprehensive income       
Exchange rate translation impact of foreign 
subsidiaries (Note 13) 

 
- (422) - - (422)

      
Total comprehensive income for the year  - (422) 200,887 (1,017) 199,448 
       
Transactions with owners in the capacity as owners       
Treasury shares acquired (Note 12)  (3,638) - - - (3,638)
Share-based payments reserve (Note 13)  - 672 - - 672 
Dividends paid (Note 15)  - - (211,204) - (211,204)
     
Transactions with non-controlling interests (Note 30)  - - - 29,753 29,753 
       
Balance at 30 June 2016  747,717 (587,764) 175,522 28,736 364,211 
  

 
 

Issued 
 

 
 

Retained  
Non- 

controlling  Total 
  capital  Reserves  profits  interests  equity 

Consolidated  $'000  $'000  $'000 $'000 $'000 
         
Balance at 1 July 2016  747,717 (587,764) 175,522 28,736 364,211 
       
Profit after income tax expense for the year  - - 186,026 6,621 192,647 
       
Other comprehensive income       
Exchange rate translation impact of foreign 
subsidiaries (Note 13) 

 
- (595) - - (595) 

Deconsolidation of Platinum World Portfolios Plc. 
(Note 13) 

 
- 1,001 - - 1,001 

       
       
Total comprehensive income for the year  - 406 186,026 6,621 193,053 
       
Transactions with owners in the capacity as owners       
Treasury shares acquired (Note 12)  (4,784) - - - (4,784)
Share-based payments reserve (Note 13)  - 1,540 - - 1,540 
Dividends paid (Note 15)  - - (181,687) - (181,687)
Decrease in retained earnings on deconsolidation of 
Platinum World Portfolios Plc. (Note 30) 

 
- - (1,902) (5,604) (7,506)

Decrease in equity on deconsolidation (Note 30)  - - - (29,753) (29,753)
       
Balance at 30 June 2017  742,933 (585,818) 177,959 - 335,074 
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Cash flows from operating activities        
Receipts from operating activities    311,656  345,175 
Payments for operating activities    (65,584) (60,792) 
Income taxes paid    (80,686) (81,922) 
       
Net cash from operating activities  28  165,386  202,461 
  
Cash flows from investing activities        
Interest received    4,666  4,275 
Purchase of term deposits    (494,394) (464,786) 
Proceeds on maturity of term deposits    558,036  525,536 
Receipts from sale of financial assets    37,488  7,939 
Payments for purchases of financial assets and investment in associate    (91,356) (105,506) (230,591)
Payments for purchases of fixed assets  8  (1,097) (465) 
Dividends received    481  321 
Distributions received    7  11 
Less cash released on deconsolidation    (36,152) - 
       
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities    (22,321) (32,675) 
  
Cash flows from financing activities        
Proceeds from investment by non-controlling interests  30  73,758  29,753 
Dividends paid    (181,592) (211,225) (162,050)
       
Net cash used in financing activities    (107,834) (181,472) (152,193)
  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    35,231  (11,686) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    119,079  127,679 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (47) 3,086 
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year    154,263  119,079 
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies  
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
Basis of preparation  
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001, as 
appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
  
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of fair value measurement of assets and liabilities, except where 
otherwise stated. 
  
Critical accounting estimates  
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates have been made, are 
disclosed in Note 2. 
  
Parent entity information  
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity only 
and have been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated entity financial statements. Supplementary information 
about the parent entity is disclosed in Note 25. 
  
Princip les of consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Platinum Asset 
Management Limited (“Company” or “parent entity”) as at 30 June 2017 and the results of all subsidiaries for the financial 
year. Platinum Asset Management Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 
'consolidated entity' or ‘group’. 
  
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity 
when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 
  
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets, liabilities and non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity.  
 
On 26 January 2017, as a result of external investment of A$129m into Platinum World Portfolios Plc (“PWP”), PIML’s 
interest reduced to a level that was below 20%. PWP was deconsolidated from the Platinum consolidated entity from this 
date and equity accounting has been applied. At 30 June 2017, PIML’s interest in PWP was 14.49%. 
 
With respect to the reporting of PWP, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
discloses PWP’s direct investment income and expenses for the period 1 July 2016 to 26 January 2017 and PIML’s share 
of PWP’s net assets for the period 26 January 2017 to 30 June 2017. 
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Equity investment  in associates  
An associate is an entity over which the consolidated entity exercises significant influence but not control over its financial 
and operating policies. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee, but does not control or jointly control those policies. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting in the financial statements. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
associated entities to bring their accounting policies and reporting dates into line with the consolidated entity’s accounting 
policies. At 30 June 2017, the consolidated entity was assessed as having significant influence over Platinum Asia 
Investments Limited and Platinum World Portfolios Plc, as a result of its direct investment and investment management 
activities. 
 
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post 
acquisition changes in the consolidated entity’s share of net assets of the associate. Where an associate was previously a 
controlled entity of the consolidated entity, the deemed cost for the purpose of applying the equity method is the fair value 
on the date that the consolidated entity ceased to have a controlling interest. After application of the equity method, the 
consolidated entity determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the consolidated 
entity’s net investment in associates. 
 
The consolidated entity’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated entity’s 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
Dividends or distributions received or receivable from an associate are recognised in the consolidated entity’s statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with an associated reduction in the carrying value of the investment. 
 
Operating segments  
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (“CODM”). The CODM refers to the Board of 
the Company, who are responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 
Refer to Note 3 for further information. 
  
Foreign currency translation  
 
Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the consolidated entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars ($), which is the consolidated entity’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at balance date exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Other offshore companies within the consolidated entity 
The results and financial position of companies in the entity that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for the consolidated statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate 
at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position; 

• income and expenses for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are 
translated at the date of transaction, or in certain instances, for practical purposes, a rate that approximates the 
rate at transaction date is used (for example, an average rate); and 

• any exchange rate differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated as a separate 
reserve in equity. 

  
The foreign currency reserve is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
when the foreign operation or net investment is disposed of. 
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Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
Under AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, investments are classified in the consolidated 
entity's statement of financial position as "financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss". Derivatives and 
forward currency contracts are classified as financial instruments "held for trading" and equity securities are designated at 
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.  
 
The consolidated entity has applied AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement. AASB 13 defines fair value as “the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market employees at the 
measurement date”. AASB 13 increases transparency about fair value measurements, including the valuation techniques 
and inputs used to measure fair value. 
 
The standard prescribes that the most representative price within the bid-ask spread should be used for valuation 
purposes. With respect to the consolidated entity, the last-sale or “last” price is the most representative price within the bid-
ask spread, because it represents the price that the security last changed hands from seller to buyer. 
  
The consolidated entity has applied last-sale pricing as the fair value measurement basis for equities and derivatives it 
holds. 
  
AASB 13 also requires reporting entities to disclose its valuation techniques and inputs. This is described below. 
 
Fair value in an active market 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets use quoted market prices at reporting date without 
any deduction for estimated future selling costs. Financial assets are valued using “last-sale” pricing. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets/liabilities are included in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income in the period they arise. 
 
Fair value in an inactive market 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using valuation 
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, discounted cash flow techniques or any 
other valuation techniques that provide a reliable estimate of prices obtained in actual market transactions. 
  
Recognition/derecognition 
The consolidated entity recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes party to the contractual 
agreement (trade date) and recognises changes in the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities from this date. 
 
Investments are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the investments have ceased or have been 
transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. 
  
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, derivative financial instruments are categorised as "financial 
assets/liabilities held for trading" and are accounted for at fair value with changes to such values recognised through the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Short futures 
are valued based on quoted last prices. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial 
assets/liabilities are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period 
they arise. An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is objective evidence that an 
investment is impaired. 
  
Revenue recognition  
Management, administration and performance fees 
Management, administration and performance fees are included as part of operating income and are recognised as they 
are earned. The majority of management fees were derived from the Platinum Trust Funds. The management fee was 
calculated at 1.40% per annum of each Fund's daily Net Asset Value.  The administration fee was calculated at a rate of up 
to 0.10% per annum of each Fund’s daily Net Asset Value. A performance fee was recognised as income at the end of the 
fee period to which it relates, when the consolidated entity's entitlement to the fee becomes certain. 
  
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and is based 
on the nominated interest rate available on the bank accounts and term deposits held. 
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Trust distributions 
Trust distributions are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes entitled to the income. 
  
Dividend income 
Dividend income is brought to account on the applicable ex-dividend date. 
  
Income tax  
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 
  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
  
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for 
the carrying amount to be recovered.  
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 
  
Tax Consolidation Legislation 
In accordance with the (Australian) Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, Platinum Asset Management Limited is the head 
entity of the tax consolidated group that includes all of its 100 per cent wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries. 
 
Any current tax liabilities of the consolidated group are accounted for by Platinum Asset Management Limited. Current tax 
expense and deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on a consolidated basis and recognised by the consolidated 
entity. 
 
Offshore Banking Unit (“OBU”) Legislation 
In June 2010, the Australian Taxation Office declared that the consolidated group is an Offshore Banking Unit (OBU) under 
Australian Taxation Law. This allows the consolidated group to apply a concessional tax rate of 10% to net income it 
derives from its offshore mandates. The concession was applied from 1 July 2010. 
 
 
Current and non -current classification  
Assets and liabilities are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 
  
Asset/liabilities are classified as current when: it is expected or there is a legal obligation for the asset/liability to be realised 
or settled within 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets/liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
 
Trade and other receivables  
All receivables are measured at amortised cost, are not discounted, and are recognised when a right to receive payment is 
established. Trade receivables are predominantly comprised of management and performance fees earned, but not 
received, at balance date. Any debts that are known to be uncollectible are written off. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents  
In accordance with AASB 107: Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes deposits at call and cash at bank that are used to 
meet short-term cash requirements and cash held in margin accounts. Cash equivalents include short-term deposits of 
three months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible into cash. Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the financial year, as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, are reconciled to the related item in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 
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Under AASB 107, term deposits that have maturities of more than three months from the date of acquisition are not 
included as part of "cash and cash equivalents" and have been disclosed separately in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. All term deposits are held with licensed Australian banks. 
  
Margin accounts comprise cash held as collateral for derivative transactions. 
 
Payments and receipts relating to the purchase and sale of term deposits are classified as "cash flows from investing 
activities". 
  
Receipts from operating activities include management, administration and performance fees receipts. Payments for 
operating activities include payments to suppliers and employees. 
  
Fixed assets  
Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Fixed assets (other than in-house software and applications in 
the course of construction and development) are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the diminishing 
balance method. 
  
The expected useful lives are as follows: 
  
Computer equipment  4 years 
Software  2½ years 
In-house software and applications  4 years 
Communications equipment  4 - 10 years 
Office fit out  3 - 13 years 
Office furniture and equipment  5 - 13 years 
  
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date. 
  
A fixed asset is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the consolidated entity. Gains 
and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
  
Operating l eases  
Platinum Investment Management Limited has entered into a lease agreement for the premises it occupies and pays rent 
on a monthly basis. Payments made under the operating lease are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. Details of the financial commitments relating to the lease are included in Note 22. 
  
Trade and other payables  
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their general short-term nature, they are measured at amortised cost and are 
not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of being invoiced. 
  
Employee benefits  
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. 
  
Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate 
bonds. 
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Issued capital  
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. When Platinum, via an Employee Share Trust, purchases PTM shares on-market 
pursuant to the Deferred Incentive Plan (see the “Share-based payments” accounting policy below for further details), the 
consideration paid is deducted from total shareholders’ equity and the shares treated as treasury shares. Treasury shares 
are recorded at cost and when any restrictions on the sale of PTM shares are lifted, generally on vesting, the cost is 
adjusted to the share-based payments reserve. 
  
Dividends  
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year. 
  
Earnings per share  
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Platinum Asset Management 
Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year. Treasury shares are excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares used to calculate basic (and diluted) earnings per share. 
  
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the weighted average number of shares used to determine basic earnings per share to 
take into account any options that are "in the money", but not exercised. 
  
Disclosure of interest s in other entities  
The consolidated entity has applied AASB 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. AASB 12 requires disclosure about 
the nature of, and risks associated with, the consolidated entity's interest in other entities. An interest in another entity 
refers to involvement that exposes the entity to variability of returns from the performance of another entity and includes 
the means by which an entity has control, and can include the purchase of units or shares in another entity. The 
consolidated entity will apply the standard to its interest in the Platinum Trust Funds and any of its subsidiaries and 
associates. Please refer to Note 24 for the relevant disclosures. 
  
Goods and Services Tax (“GST” ) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case, it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
  
Share-based p ayments  
On 2 June 2016, Platinum established a Deferred Incentive Plan, in which the Company through an Employee Share Trust, 
purchased shares in the Company (PTM shares) for future allocation to key employees of Platinum Investment 
Management Limited (eligible employees). Employees selected to participate in the Deferred Incentive Plan are at the 
discretion of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee.   
 
On an annual basis, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee will select the eligible employees that will be granted 
deferred rights to receive shares in the Company. A proportion of each eligible employee’s short-term incentive will be 
deferred and the amount deferred will vary. The shares will be allocated to eligible employee(s), on the condition that the 
employee remains with Platinum for a period of four years (vesting period), from the grant date of the deferred rights. The 
deferred rights may be forfeited or re-allocated to another eligible employee, if an eligible employee leaves Platinum, prior 
to serving their four year service period. 
 
Details relating to share-based payments are set out in Note 20. 
 



Platinum Asset Management Limited    
Notes to the financial statements    
30 June 2017    
 

  
Note 1. Significant accounting policies (continued)  
  

  
29 

AASB 2: Share-based Payments requires an organisation to recognise an expense for equity provided for services 
rendered by employees. The amount that is recognised for provision of share based payments is derived from the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted. Deferred incentives settled in PTM shares are considered to be a share-based 
payments award. 
 
The fair value of the equity instruments granted and measured at grant date is recognised over the service period. The 
accounting expense will commence when there is a “shared understanding” of the terms and conditions of the offer. The 
service period may commence prior to grant date. In this case, the expense is estimated and trued-up at grant date. 
 
The fair value of the rights granted is recognised in the consolidated accounts as an expense with a corresponding entry to 
reserves. The fair value is measured at grant date and amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period that the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the share. In measuring the fair value, an allowance has been made for the 
risk or probability of forfeiture, which measures the risk of selected eligible employees leaving Platinum and forfeiting their 
rights.  
 
At each balance date, the Company reviews the number of deferred rights granted. Adjustments are made to the share-
based payments expense, if the number of deferred rights granted has changed (e.g. through forfeitures). The impact of 
any revision to the original estimate will be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
with the corresponding entry to reserves. 
 
The purchase of shares on-market by the Company through an Employee Share Trust for future allocation to key 
employees is shown in the consolidated statement of financial position as a debit entry to the “treasury shares” account 
with the corresponding credit entry to “cash”. 
 
Rounding of amounts  
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations “Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports” Instrument 
2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in these 
financial statements have been rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain 
cases, the nearest dollar. 
  
Accounting Standa rds and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted  
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are of relevance to the consolidated entity but are not mandatory 
and have not been early adopted for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2017, and the consolidated entity's 
assessment of the impact of these issued or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the 
consolidated entity, are set out below. 
  
AASB 16: Leases 
AASB 16 will apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The new standard eliminates the 
classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases for a lessee and requires lease assets and lease 
liabilities to be recognised in the statement of financial position, initially measured at present value of future lease 
payments. In addition, depreciation of the lease assets and interest on lease liabilities will be recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the statement of cash flows will need to separate the total amount of 
cash paid into a principal portion and interest. This standard was assessed as not having a material impact on the 
consolidated entity, but the consolidated entity anticipates that the adoption of the standard from 1 January 2019 will result 
in increased disclosure. 
 
AASB 15: Revenue from contracts with customers and associated amendments 
AASB 15 will apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. AASB 15 will replace AASB 111 and 
AASB 118.  The main objective of the new standard is to provide a single revenue recognition model based on the transfer 
of goods and services and the consideration expected to be received in return for that transfer. Revenue recognised by an 
asset manager will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur in future periods. This means that performance fees will only be recognised 
once the contractual measurement period is completed. This is consistent with how performance fees are already 
recognised in the consolidated entity's accounts. The consolidated entity anticipates that this standard will not have a 
material impact on the consolidated entity, based on work done to date. The impact of this standard will be subject to 
ongoing assessment. 
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There are no other standards that are not yet effective that are expected to have a material impact on the consolidated 
entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
 
Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates a nd assumptions  
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates 
and assumptions on historical experience and on other factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Estimation of useful lives of assets (Note 8) 
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its fixed assets. The 
useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation charge will 
increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated useful lives. 
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets (Note 5) 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
Assessment of control and significant influence of Platinum World Portfolios Plc. (“PWP”) (Note 21) 
During the year, as a result of additional external investment, an assessment was made that Platinum World Portfolios Plc. 
is no longer controlled by the consolidated entity and, was therefore, deconsolidated from the consolidated entity.  
 
At 30 June 2017, Platinum Investment Management Limited (and the consolidated entity) was assessed as having 
significant influence over Platinum Asia Investments Limited (“PAI”) and Platinum World Portfolios Plc (“PWP”). 
 
Impairment assessment (Note 21) 
We have conducted an impairment assessment of the carrying amount of the investment in associates, including a look-
through of each of the underlying assets and liabilities. 
 
Note 3. Operating segments  
 
The consolidated entity is organised into two main operating segments being: 
 

• funds management: through the generation of management and performance fees from Australian investment 
vehicles, its US-based investment mandates and Platinum World Portfolios Plc. (“PWP”) (since the date of 
deconsolidation); and 

 
• investments and other: through the consolidated entity’s investment in the (a) ASX quoted, Platinum Asia 

Investments Limited, (b) offshore fund, PWP, and (c) unlisted Platinum Trust Funds. Also included in this category 
are Australian dollar term deposits and interest-bearing cash accounts, as well as any associated interest derived 
from these.  
 

The segment financial results, segment assets and liabilities are disclosed on the following page(s). 
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 Funds  

Management 
 Investments 

and Other 
 

Total 
2017  $'000  $'000  $'000 

       
Revenue        
Management, performance and administration fees  312,468  -  312,468 
Interest  343  3,998  4,341 
Net foreign exchange gains on overseas bank accounts  -  149  149 
Net gains on financial assets and equity in associates   -  16,515  16,515 
Net gains on forward currency contracts, dividends and other income  -  76  76 
Total revenue and other income   312,811  20,738  333,549 

      
Expenses   (62,641)  (330)  (62,971) 
Profit before income tax expense   250,170  20,408  270,578 
Income tax expense  (74,170)  (3,761)  (77,931) 
Profit after income tax expense   176,000  16,647  192,647 
Other comprehensive income  -  406  406 
Total comprehensive income   176,000  17,053  193,053 
       
       
Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents  9,256  145,007  154,263 
Financial assets and equity in associates  -  91,799  91,799 
Term deposits  -  74,876  74,876 
Receivables and other assets  32,769  259  33,028 
Total assets   42,025  311,941  353,966 
       
Liabilities        
Payables and provisions  9,977  -  9,977 
Tax liabilities  7,368  1,547  8,915 
Total liabilities   17,345  1,547  18,892 
Net assets   24,680  310,394  355,074 
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 Funds  

Management 
 Investments 

and Other 
 

Total 
2016  $'000  $'000  $'000 

       
Revenue        
Management, performance and administration fees  337,894 - 337,894 
Interest  379 3,689 4,068 
Net foreign exchange gains on overseas bank accounts  - 5,142 5,142 
Net losses on financial assets and equity in associates   - (2,915) (2,915)
Net gains on forward currency contracts, dividends and other income  - 469 469 
Total revenue and other income   338,273 6,385 344,658 

    
Expenses   (61,698) (766) (62,464)
Profit before income tax expense   276,575 5,619 282,194 
Income tax expense  (80,671) (1,653) (82,324)
Profit after income tax expense   195,904 3,966 199,870 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  - (422) (422)
Total comprehensive income   195,904 3,544 199,448 
     
     
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  3,439 115,640 119,079 
Financial assets and equity in associate  - 97,198 97,198 
Term deposits  - 138,518 138,518 
Receivables and other assets  31,503 1,025 32,528 
Total assets   34,942 352,381 387,323 
     
Liabilities      
Financial liabilities  - 182 182 
Payables and provisions  9,657 1,512 11,169 
Tax liabilities  9,614 2,147 11,761 
Total liabilities   19,271 3,841 23,112 
Net assets   15,671 348,540 364,211 
 

The consolidated entity derived management and performance fees from Australian investment vehicles and its US-based 
investment mandates and also derived investment income from its investments in PAI and PWP. The geographical 
breakdown of revenue and other income is as follows: 
  
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Geographic region      
Australia  316,366  329,766 
Offshore: United States and Ireland  17,183  14,892 
     
  333,549  344,658 
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The income tax expense attributable to profit comprises: 
 
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
     
Current tax payable  77,874  83,631 
Deferred tax - recognition of temporary differences  54  (1,259)
Deferred tax - credited to share-based payments reserve  91  37 
Adjustment recognised for prior periods  (88) (85)
     
Income tax expense  77,931  82,324 

     
     
     
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense:     
Profit before income tax expense  270,578  282,194 
     
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30%  81,173  84,658 
     
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:    
Tax rate differential on offshore business income  (799) (1,733)
Unrealised (losses) on investments   (451) (240)
Realised accounting loss on PAI options  240  - 
Non-taxable (gain)/loss on Platinum World Portfolios Plc  (2,379) 436 
Other non-deductible expenses  6  (483)
Taxable gains/(losses) on Controlled Foreign Corporation  229  (229)
Adjustment recognised for prior periods  (88) (85)
     
Income tax expense  77,931  82,324 
    

 

Note 5. Non-current li abilities  - net deferred tax liabilities      
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences attributable to:     
     
     

Unrealised foreign exchange (losses)/gains on cash (17) 3,043 
Deferred Incentive Plan 1,640  806 
Long service and annual leave (978) (939) 
Unrealised gains/(losses) on investments 1,564  (667) 
Capital expenditure not immediately deductible (814) (736) 
Unrealised losses of Controlled Foreign Corporation -  (229) 
Brokerage fee (94) - 
Expense accruals (252) (283) 

    
Net deferred tax liabilities 1,049  995 

     
The net deferred tax liability figure is comprised of $2,155,000 (2016: $2,854,000) of deferred tax assets and $3,204,000 
(2016: $3,849,000) of deferred tax liabilities. 
 
It is estimated that most of the non-investment related deferred tax assets will be recovered or settled within 12 months, 
and are estimated to be $1,230,000 (2016: $1,222,000). 
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Note 6. Current assets - financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Unlisted unit trust investments  107  102 
Options in Platinum Asia Investments Limited1  -  800 
Equity securities - held directly by PWP2  -  48,438 
Derivatives - held directly by PWP2  -  24 
Forward currency contracts - held directly by PWP2  -  88 
     
  107  49,452 

 
1 During the prior year, Platinum Investment Management Limited (“PIML”) received 50 million options in Platinum Asia 
Investment Limited (PAI). During the current year, PIML exercised 21,325,000 options and transferred 19,200,000 options 
to sophisticated third party investors. The remaining 9,475,000 options expired on 15 May 2017, and lapsed without being 
exercised. 
 
2 On 26 January 2017, Platinum World Portfolios Plc (“PWP”) was deconsolidated from the consolidated entity and PIML’s 
investment was treated as an investment in an associate (see Note 21 for further details). 
 
Note 7. Current assets - trade and other receivables  
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Trade receivables  28,762  27,858 
Interest receivable  268  605 
Prepayments  1,158  995 
Dividends receivable  -  115 
Proceeds from sale of financial assets  -  319 
Sundry debtors  11  8 
     
  30,199  29,900 

  
Trade debtors are comprised of management fees, performance fees and administration fees derived from the Platinum 
Trust Funds and Mandates. 
 
Trade receivables are received between seven to 30 days after becoming receivable. 
 
Interest receivable comprises accrued interest on term deposits and cash accounts. Interest on term deposits is received 
on maturity. There were no dividends receivable and proceeds from sale of financial assets at 30 June 2017 because on 
26 January 2017, PWP was deconsolidated from the consolidated entity. 
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Note 8. Non-current assets – fixed assets  
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Computer equipment - at cost  1,314  1,172 
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (1,097) (994) 
  217  178 
     
Software and applications - at cost  5,205  4,343 
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (3,997) (3,569) 
  1,208  774 
     
Communications equipment - at cost  133  126 
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (112) (98) 
  21  28 
     
Office premises fit out - at cost  2,543  2,468 
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (1,293) (990) 
  1,250  1,478 
     
Furniture and equipment - at cost  670  660 
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (537) (490) 
  133  170 
     
  2,829  2,628 

  
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
  

 
 

Computer 
 

Software & 
 Commun- 

ications 
 Office 

premises 
 

Furniture & 
 

  
  equipment  applications  equipment  fit out  equipment  Total 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
             
Balance at 1 July 2015  149  1,156  52  1,574  199  3,130 
Additions  116  80  4  233  32  465 
Disposals  -  -  (2) -  -  (2) 
Depreciation expense  (87) (462)  (26) (329) (61) (965) 
             
Balance at 30 June 2016  178  774  28  1,478  170  2,628 
Additions  142  862  8  75  10  1,097 
Disposals  -  -  (1) -  -  (1) 
Depreciation expense  (103) (428)  (14) (303) (47) (895) 
             
Balance at 30 June 2017  217  1,208  21  1,250  133  2,829 

  
At 30 June 2017, there was software and applications in the course of construction and development of $530,043 (2016: 
$nil), which forms part of the “additions” line relating to “software & applications”. 
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Note 9. Current liabilities - trade and other payables  
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Trade payables  3,219  4,019 
Unclaimed dividends payable to shareholders  545  450 
Payable on purchase of financial assets  -  985 
GST payable  2,491  2,387 
     
  6,255  7,841 

  
There were no payable on purchase of financial assets at 30 June 2017, because on 26 January 2017, PWP was 
deconsolidated from the consolidated entity. 
  
Note 10. Current liabilities - financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Derivatives - held directly by PWP  -  16 
Forward currency contracts - held directly by PWP  -  166 
     
  -  182 

 
There were no open derivatives or forward currency contracts at 30 June 2017, because on 26 January 2017, PWP was 
deconsolidated from the consolidated entity and treated as an investment in an associate (see Note 21 for further details). 
  
Note 11. Current  and non -current  liabilities - employee benefits  
    
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
Current liabilities      
Annual leave  1,364  1,280 
Long service leave  1,897  1,849 
     
  3,261  3,129 

  
Non-current liabilities 
Payroll tax on Deferred Incentive Plan*   461  199 
     
  461  199 

 * The payroll tax provision increased because payroll tax is payable and has been calculated on the second tranche of 
deferred rights granted during the year. 
 
Note 12. Equity - issued capital  
  
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  Shares   Shares   $'000  $'000 
Ordinary shares - fully paid  586,678,900  586,678,900  747,717  751,355 
Treasury shares purchased   -  -  (4,784) (3,638)
         
Total issued capital   586,678,900  586,678,900  742,933  747,717 
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 
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On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
 
On 13 September 2016, the Company announced an on-market share buy-back program, in which shares will be bought-
back if the PTM shares trade at a discount to its underlying value. No shares have been bought-back. 
 
 
Treasury shares 
In the current year, there were additional purchases of $4,783,594 (2016: $3,638,073) worth of PTM treasury shares under 
the Deferred Incentive Plan. Please refer to Note 20 for more information. The allocation of treasury shares and closing 
balance was as follows: 
   
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  Shares   Shares   $'000  $'000 
         
Opening balance  591,578  -  3,638  - 
Additional shares held by the Employee Share Trust  1,034,448  591,578  4,784  3,638 
Shares allocated to employees  -  -  -  - 
Balance at the end of the financial year  1,626,026  591,578  8,422  3,638 

 
$4,783,594 (2016: $3,638,073) represents the amount spent on purchasing PTM shares on-market. This amount and the 
associated brokerage costs have been disclosed in the consolidated statement of cash flows as part of “cash flows from 
operating activities”, because the expenditure related to employee remuneration. 
 
Note 13. Equity - reserves  
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Foreign currency translation reserve  114 (292) 
Capital reserve  (588,144) (588,144) 
Share-based payments reserve  2,212  672 
     
  (585,818) (587,764) 

  
Foreign currency translation reserve 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign controlled entities are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated as a separate reserve within equity. The balance of the foreign currency translation reserve was 
$114,000 at 30 June 2017 (30 June 2016: ($292,000)). 
 
Capital reserve 
In 2007, in preparation for listing, a restructure was undertaken in which the Company sold or transferred all of its assets, 
other than its beneficial interest in shares in Platinum Asset Pty Limited and sufficient cash to meet its year to date income 
tax liability. 
 
The Company then split its issued share capital of 100 shares into 435,181,783 ordinary shares. It then took its beneficial 
interests in Platinum Investment Management Limited to 100%, through scrip for scrip offers, in consideration for the issue 
of 125,818,217 ordinary shares in the Company. 
 
As a result of the share split and takeover offers, the Company had 561,000,000 ordinary shares on issue and beneficially 
held 100% of the issued share capital of Platinum Investment Management Limited. Subsequently, 140,250,000 shares on 
issue representing 25% of the issued shares of the Company were sold to the public by existing shareholders. 
 
The amount of $588,144,000 was established on listing as a result of the difference between the consideration paid for the 
purchase of non-controlling interests and the share of net assets acquired in the minority interests. 
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Share-based payments reserve 
 
In June 2016, the consolidated entity established and allocated rights to eligible employees under the Deferred Incentive 
Plan. The amount in the share-based payments reserve is comprised of the amortisation of the rights granted in the current 
(and prior year) and any associated future tax deduction. 
 
Please refer to Note 20 for further information. 
 
 
Movements in reserves 
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
  
  Share-based    Foreign        
  Payments    Currency    Capital   Total  
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
         
Balance at 30 June 2015  - 130 (588,144) (588,014)
Exchange rate translation impact of foreign subsidiaries  - (422) - (422)
Movement in share-based payments reserve  672 - - 672 
      
Balance at 30 June 2016  672 (292) (588,144) (587,764)
Exchange rate translation impact of foreign subsidiaries  - (595) - (595)
Deconsolidation of controlled entity  - 1,001 - 1,001 
Movement in share-based payments reserve  1,540 - - 1,540 
      
Balance at 30 June 2017  2,212 114 (588,144) (585,818)

  
Note 14. Equity - retained profits  
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year  175,522  185,839 
Profit after income tax expense attributable to owners of the Company  186,026  200,887 
Deconsolidation of Platinum World Portfolios Plc.  (1,902) - 
Dividends paid (Note 15)  (181,687) (211,204) 
     
Retained profits at the end of the financial year  177,959  175,522 
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Note 15. Equity - dividends  
  
 
 
Dividends 
Dividends paid during the financial year were as follows: 
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Dividend paid on 22 September 2016 (2016: 22 September 2015) of 16 cents (2016: 20 
cents) per ordinary share 

 
93,774 

 
117,336 

Dividend paid on 22 March 2017 (2016: 22 March 2016) of 15 cents (2016:16 cents) per 
ordinary share 

 
87,913 

 
93,868 

     
  181,687  211,204 

  
 
Dividends not recognised at year-end 
Since 30 June 2017, the Directors declared to pay a fully-franked dividend of 15 cents per share, payable out of profits for 
the 12 months to 30 June 2017. The dividend has not been provided for at 30 June 2017, because the dividend was 
declared after year-end. 
 
 
Franking credits 
 
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Franking credits available at reporting date based on a tax rate of 30%  72,333  69,513 
Franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income 
tax at the reporting date based on a tax rate of 30% 

 
7,866 

 
10,766 

     
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30%  80,199  80,279 

  



Platinum Asset Management Limited    
Notes to the financial statements    
30 June 2017    
 

  

  
40 

Note 16. Financial risk management  
 
Financial risk management objectives 
The Company's and consolidated entity's activities expose it to both direct and indirect financial risk, including: market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. Direct exposure to financial risk occurs through the impact on profit of movements in funds 
under management ("FUM") and through its direct investments in the Platinum Trust Funds, Platinum Asia Investments 
Limited (“PAI”) and the offshore fund, Platinum World Portfolios Plc (“PWP”). 
 
Indirect exposure occurs because the operating subsidiary, Platinum Investment Management Limited, is the Investment 
Manager for various investment vehicles (which include investment mandates, various unit trusts: namely the Platinum 
Trust Funds and Platinum Global Fund, its ASX-listed investment vehicles: Platinum Capital Limited and Platinum Asia 
Investments Limited and Platinum World Portfolios Plc). 
 
This note mainly discusses the direct exposure to risk of the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity's risk 
management procedures focus on managing the potential adverse effects on financial performance caused by volatility of 
financial markets. 
 
Market risk 
The key direct risks associated with the consolidated entity are those driven by investment and market volatility and the 
resulting impact on FUM or a reduction in the growth of FUM. Reduced FUM will directly impact on management fee 
income and profit because management fee income is calculated as a percentage of FUM. FUM can be directly impacted 
by a range of factors including: 
 

(i) Poor investment performance: absolute negative investment performance will reduce FUM and relative under 
performance to appropriate market benchmarks could reduce the attractiveness of Platinum’s investment products 
to investors, which would impact on the growth of the business. Poor investment performance could also trigger 
the termination of Investment Mandate arrangements; 

 
(ii) Market volatility: Platinum invests in global markets. It follows that a decline in overseas markets, adverse 

exchange rate or interest rate movements will all impact on FUM; 
 

(iii) A reduction in the ability to retain and attract investors: that could be caused by a decline in investment 
performance, but also a range of other factors, such as the high level of competition in the funds management 
industry; 

 
(iv) A loss of key personnel; and 

 
(v) Investor allocation decisions: investors constantly re-assess and re-allocate their investments on the basis of their 

own preferences. Investor allocation decisions could operate independently from investment performance, such 
that funds outflows occur despite positive investment performance. 

  
A decline in investment performance will also directly impact on performance share fees and performance fees earned by 
the consolidated entity. Historically, the amount of performance share fees earned by the consolidated entity has fluctuated 
significantly from year to year and can be a material source of fee revenue. 
 
For those Investment Mandates that pay a performance share fee, the fee is based on a proportion of each Mandate's 
investment performance, and is calculated at the end of each calendar year and is based on absolute (and not relative) 
return. 
  
Performance fees may be earned by the consolidated entity, if the investment return of a Platinum Trust Fund, Platinum 
Capital Limited, Platinum Asia Investments Limited, Platinum World Portfolios or applicable Mandate exceeds its specified 
benchmark. Should the actual performance of one or more of these entities be higher than the applicable benchmark, a 
performance fee would be receivable for the financial year. As at 30 June 2017, performance fees of $738,524 (2016: 
$11,927) were receivable. 
  
If global equity markets fell 10% over the course of the year and consequently the consolidated entity's FUM fell in line with 
global equity markets, it follows that management fees would fall by 10%. If there was a 10% decrease in performance of 
Investment Mandates over the course of the year that resulted in an actual negative performance for the Investment 
Mandate for the year, then no performance fee would be earned. 
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Note 16. Financial risk management (continued)  
 
The above analysis assumes a uniform 10% fall across all global equity markets. This is extremely unlikely as there is a 
large degree of variation in volatility across markets. For example, it is quite feasible for the Chinese market to grow whilst 
other Asian markets fall. 
 
To mitigate the impact of adverse investment performance on FUM, the Investment Manager may employ hedging 
strategies to manage the impact of adverse market and exchange rate movements on the funds it manages. Market risk 
may be managed through derivative contracts, including futures, options and swaps. Currency risk may be managed 
through the use of forward currency contracts. 
 
The section below discusses the direct impact of foreign currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk on the consolidated 
entity's financial instruments held at 30 June 2017. 
  
Foreign currency risk 
The consolidated entity is exposed to foreign currency risk, because: 
 
-            it holds US Dollar cash, either directly or through its direct investments; 
 
- it derives management and performance fees from its US Dollar investment mandates; and 
 
- it directly invests in Platinum World Portfolios and Platinum Asia Investments Limited.  
 
US Dollar cash 
At 30 June 2017, the consolidated entity held US$2,978,425 (equivalent to A$3,873,618) in cash (2016: US$85,457,572 
equivalent to A$114,692,756). If the Australian Dollar had been 10% higher/lower against the US Dollar than the prevailing 
exchange rate used to convert the balance with all other variables held constant, net profit before tax would have been 
A$352,189 lower/A$430,464 higher (2016: A$10,426,614 lower/A$12,743,639 higher). The reduction related to the fact 
that, in the current year, nearly all of the consolidated entity’s US Dollar cash balances were repatriated into Australian 
Dollars. 
 
US Dollar fees 
If the Australian Dollar had been 10% higher/lower against the US Dollar than the prevailing exchange rate used to convert 
the Mandate and PWP fees, with all other variables held constant, then net profit before tax would have been A$502,668 
lower/A$614,288 higher (2016: A$889,794 lower/A$1,099,768 higher).  
 
Investment in Platinum World Portfolios (“PWP”) 
Platinum Investment Management Limited’s (PIML’s) investment in PWP is denominated in US Dollars. If the Australian 
Dollar had been 10% higher/lower against the prevailing exchange rate at 30 June 2017, then the consolidated entity’s net 
assets would have been A$3.4m lower/A$4.2m higher (2016: A$5.7m lower/A$7.0m higher) (exchange rate translation 
effect). 
 
Platinum World Portfolios’ investments are denominated in various foreign currencies specific to the investments held in 
each of the portfolios. The foreign currency with the largest impact on profit before tax, if there was a 10% currency 
movement at 30 June 2017, was the Japanese Yen. A 10% increase/decrease in the Australian Dollar would have caused 
net profit before tax to be A$726,765 lower/A$939,761 higher, based on PIML’s interest in PWP at 30 June 2017 (2016: 
A$661,886 lower/A$808,972 higher). 
 
Investment in Platinum Asia Investments Limited 
Platinum Asia Investments Limited’s investments are also denominated in foreign currencies. The foreign currency with the 
largest impact on profit before tax, if there was a 10% currency movement at 30 June 2017, was the US Dollar, which was 
the currency with the largest exposure in this entity at 30 June 2017. A 10% increase/decrease in the Australian Dollar 
would have caused the consolidated entity’s net profit before tax to be A$1,579,510 lower/A$1,930,512 higher (2016: 
A$1,675,000 lower/A$2,047,000 higher). 
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Note 16. Financial risk management (continued)  
 
Price risk 
The consolidated entity is exposed to indirect price risk through its equity-accounted investments in Platinum Asia 
Investments Limited and Platinum World Portfolios. 
 
The table below includes the effect on net profit before tax due to a reasonably possible change in market factors, as 
represented by a +/-10% movement in the key regional indices affecting the securities exchange that each of the 
consolidated entity’s investments in its two equity-accounted vehicles are exposed, with all other variables held constant. 
 
 
 2017 

Impact on profit of a +10% movement (A$) 

 

 

 Exposure to 
indirect 

price risk – 
PAI 

investment  

 Exposure to 
indirect 

price risk – 
PWP 

investment  

Index 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Japanese Nikkei   -  1,029,163 
Shanghai Stock Exchange   2,489,443  1,138,806 
National Stock Exchange of India   719,943  - 
Total    3,209,386  2,167,969 
 

Impact on profit of a -10% movement (A$) 

 

 

 Exposure to 
indirect 

price risk – 
PAI 

investment  

 Exposure to 
indirect 

price risk – 
PWP 

investment  
Index       
Japanese Nikkei   -  (1,029,163) 
Shanghai Stock Exchange   (2,489,443)  (1,138,806) 
National Stock Exchange of India   (719,943)  - 
Total    (3,209,386)  (2,167,969) 
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Note 16. Financial  risk management (continued)  
 
2016 

Impact on profit of a +10% movement (A$) 

 
Exposure to 
direct price 
risk – PAI 
Options 

 Exposure to 
indirect 

price risk – 
PAI 

investment  

 
Exposure to  

indirect 
price risk – 

PWP 
Index       
ASX All Ordinaries Index  800,000 -  - 
Japanese Nikkei  - -  1,049,969 
Shanghai Stock Exchange  - 1,247,000  739,875 
National Stock Exchange of India  - 949,000  547,530 
S and P (US)  - -  669,498 
Total   800,000 2,196,000  3,006,872 
 

Impact on profit of a -10% movement (A$) 

 
Exposure to 
direct price 
risk – PAI 
Options 

 Exposure to 
indirect 

price risk – 
PAI 

investment  

 
Exposure to  

indirect 
price risk – 

PWP 
Index       
ASX All Ordinaries Index  (800,000) -  - 
Japanese Nikkei  - -  (1,049,969) 
Shanghai Stock Exchange  - (1,247,000)  (739,875) 
National Stock Exchange of India  - (949,000)  (547,530) 
S and P (US)  - -  (669,498) 
Total   (800,000) (2,196,000)  (3,006,872) 
 
During 2017, all PAI options were either exercised, transferred or expired and there is no longer any options held (refer to 
Note 23 for further information). 
 
Interest rate risk 
At 30 June 2017, cash and term deposits are the only significant assets with potential exposure to interest rate risk held by 
the consolidated entity. A movement of +/-1% in Australian interest rates occurring on 30 June 2017 will cause the 
consolidated entity’s net profit before tax to be $423,807 higher/lower, based on the impact on its interest-bearing cash 
balances. An interest rate movement at 30 June 2017 will not impact the profit earned from term deposits, as term deposit 
interest rates are determined on execution. 
 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk relates to the risk of a counterparty defaulting on a financial obligation resulting in a loss to the consolidated 
entity (typically "non-equity" financial instruments). Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the consolidated entity that 
include: cash and term deposits. All term deposits and the liquid “at call” cash investment of $37m held by Platinum 
Investment Management Limited are held with licensed Australian banks that all have a AA- credit rating. All current 
account and other cash balances are held with counterparties that have at least an A credit rating.  
 
The maximum exposure to direct credit risk at balance date is the carrying amount recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. No assets are past due or impaired. 
 
Any default in the value of a financial instrument held within any of the entities that Platinum Investment Management 
Limited acts as Investment Manager, will result in reduced investment performance. There is no direct loss for the 
consolidated entity other than through the ensuing reduction in FUM, as noted above in the section on “Market Risk”. The 
Investment Manager employs standard market practices for managing its credit risk exposure. 
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Note 16. Financial risk management (continued)  
 
The credit quality of cash and term deposits held by each entity in the consolidated entity via a counterparty can be 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings. At 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, the relevant credit ratings were as 
follows: 
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Rating      
AA-  225,170  147,407 
A  3,770  110,153 
A-  -  1,801 
BBB+  199  65 
     
  229,139  259,426 

  
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its 
liabilities. The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash reserves to cover its liabilities and 
receiving management fees to meet operating expenses on a regular basis. Management monitors its cash position on a 
daily basis and prepares forecasts on a weekly basis. 
 
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following table details the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its liabilities. The table has been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of liabilities based on the earliest date on which the liabilities are required 
to be paid. 
 

 
 

At call 
 Within 30 

days 
 Between 1 
and 3 months 

 Over 3 
months 

 
Total 

2017  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
           
Non-financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Trade payables  -  3,219  -  -  3,219 
GST payable  -  2,491  -  -  2,491 
Current tax payable  -  -  7,866  -  7,866 
Unclaimed dividends payable  545  -  -  -  545 
Employee-related provisions  3,261  -  -  461  3,722 
           
Total non-financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 
3,806 

 
5,710 

 
7,866 

 
461 

 
17,843 

           
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
The consolidated entity had no financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at 30 June 2017, because on 26 
January 2017, PWP was deconsolidated from the consolidated entity. 
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Note 16. Financial risk management (continued)  
 

 
 

At call 
 Within 30 

days 
 Between 1 
and 3 months 

 Over 3 
months 

 
Total 

2016  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
           
Non-financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss          
Trade payables  -  4,019  -  -  4,019 
GST payable  -  2,387  -  -  2,387 
Payable on purchase of financial assets  -  985  -  -  985 
Current tax payable  -  -  10,766  -  10,766 
Unclaimed dividends payable  450  -  -  -  450 
Employee-related provisions  3,129  -  -  199  3,328 
           
Total non-financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 3,579  7,391  10,766  199  21,935 
           
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Derivative contractual outflows  -  16  -  -  16 
Forward currency contractual outflows  -  -  164  2  166 
           
Total financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss  
 

 

- 

 

16 

 

164 

 

2 

 

182 
  
At 30 June 2017, the consolidated entity has sufficient cash reserves of $227,263,123 (2016: $256,078,560) and a further 
$29,038,690 (2016: $28,872,577) of receivables to cover these liabilities. The current year cash reserves figure includes 
$182,876,472 of term deposits. All of these term deposits have maturities of 6 months or less from the date of acquisition. 
  
Accordingly, the consolidated entity does not have a significant direct exposure to liquidity risk. 
  
Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
  
Capital risk management 
(i) Capital requirements 
The Company has limited capital requirements. Owing to the volatility caused by the performance share fee and 
performance fee component of revenue, the Directors smooth dividend payments and have a policy of paying out 80% to 
90% of net profit after income tax expense. This is a policy, not a guarantee. 
 
(ii) External requirements 
Platinum Investment Management Limited is required to hold an Australian Financial Services Licence (AFSL) issued by 
the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC).  The AFSL authorises Platinum Investment Management 
Limited to provide investment management services and act as a Responsible Entity of Registered Managed Investment 
Schemes. 
 
Platinum Investment Management Limited has complied with all externally imposed requirements to hold an AFSL during 
the financial year. 
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Note 17. Fair value measurement  
 
Fair value hierarchy 
AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the consolidated entity to classify those assets measured at fair value using 
the following fair value hierarchy model (consistent with the hierarchy model applied to financial assets and liabilities at 30 
June 2016): 
 

(i) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); 
(ii) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (as 

prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and 
(iii) inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3). 

 
The only financial asset or liability held at 30 June 2017 that was measured at fair value were unlisted unit trust 
investments in the Platinum Trust Funds and its categorisation in the fair value hierarchy model is shown below. 
 
 
  Level 1  Level 2  Total 
2017  $'000  $'000  $'000 
       
Assets       
Unlisted unit trust investments  107  -  107 
  107  -  107 
       
 The consolidated entity has no assets or liabilities that are classified as Level 3. 
 
The fair value hierarchy model at 30 June 2016 (the comparative year) included PWP’s direct investments because all of 
these investments were consolidated as part of the consolidated entity in the prior year. The comparative year also 
included the PAI options. 
 
   Level 1  Level 2  Total 
2016  $'000  $'000  $'000 
       
Assets       
Options in Platinum Asia Investments Limited (“PAI”)  800  -  800 
Unlisted unit trust investments  102  -  102 
Equity securities - held directly by PWP  46,753  1,685  48,438 
Derivatives - held directly by PWP  2  22  24 
Forward currency contracts - held directly by PWP  -  88  88 
  47,657  1,795  49,452 
       
Liabilities       
Derivatives - held directly by PWP  -  16  16 
Forward currency contracts - held directly by PWP  -  166  166 
  -  182  182 

 

  
The consolidated entity's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of 
the reporting period. There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for any assets or liabilities measured at fair value 
during the year. 
 
 
Valuation techniques used to classify assets and liabilities as level 1 
As at 30 June 2017, the unlisted unit trust investments held by the consolidated entity were valued based on arm’s length 
prices. All investments remain highly liquid and are valued on a daily basis. Accordingly, these investments have been 
classified as Level 1 in the fair-value hierarchy model.  
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Note 18. Key management personnel disclosures 
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
The aggregate remuneration that the consolidated entity provided Executive and Non-
Executive Directors was as follows: 

 
 
 

 
Cash salary, Directors’ fees and short-term incentive cash awards  3,984  3,774 
Accounting expense related to the KMP allocation under the Deferred Incentive Plan^  121  52 
Superannuation  146  145 
Increase/(decrease) in the consolidated entity's annual and long service leave provision  (11) 67 
     
  4,240  4,038 
 
^ Elizabeth Norman and Andrew Stannard were the only members of KMP to receive an allocation of rights under the 
Deferred Incentive Plan. The accounting expense attributable to Elizabeth Norman and Andrew Stannard based on the 
allocation of these deferred rights is as follows: 
 
  2017 grant   2016 grant   Total  
       
Deferred incentive entitlement award amount ($)  400,000  300,000  700,000 
       
Number of deferred rights allocated to KMP as at 30 June 2017  86,208  48,623  134,831 
       
Total number of deferred rights allocated to all employees at 30 June 2017  1,056,656  575,370  1,626,026 
       
Volume-Weighted Average Price (VWAP) of PTM shares over the seven (7) 
trading days prior to grant date ($) 

 
4.64 

 
6.17 

 
n/a 

       
Service period used to determine accounting expense  5 years  5 years  n/a 
       
Accounting expense attributable to KMP ($)   69,600  52,200  121,800 

 

  
The accounting valuation of $121,800 represents the current year portion of the accounting fair value attributed to 
Elizabeth Norman and Andrew Stannard’s award, which, in accordance with accounting standards, will be spread over the 
five year service period. 
 
Elizabeth Norman will receive 48,623 PTM shares if she remains at Platinum until 20 June 2020 and a further 64,656 PTM 
shares (total of 113.279 PTM shares) if she remains at Platinum until 20 June 2021. 
 
Andrew Stannard will receive 21,552 PTM shares if he remains at Platinum until 20 June 2021. 
 
Interests of Non-Executive and Executive Directors in shares 
The relevant interest in ordinary shares of the Company that each Director held at balance date was: 
 
 Opening balance  Additions  Disposals  Closing balance  
     
Michael Cole 200,000 - - 200,000 
Stephen Menzies 30,000 - - 30,000 
Anne Loveridge 6,000 - - 6,000 
Kerr Neilson 312,074,841 - - 312,074,841 
Andrew Clifford 32,831,449 - - 32,831,449 
Elizabeth Norman 766,748 - - 766,748 
Andrew Stannard - - - - 
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Note 19. Remuneration of auditors  
  
During the financial year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers (the 
auditor of the Company) and its overseas network firms: 
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $  $ 
Audit services - PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Audit and review of the financial statements and AFSL audit  91,000  97,779 
     
Audit services for managed funds that Platinum Investment Management Limited acts as 
responsible entity - 

    

PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Audit and review of the financial statements and compliance plan audit  258,600  260,704 
     
Audit services for managed funds that Platinum Investment Management Limited acts as 
responsible entity and audit services for Platinum World Portfolios Plc. - overseas 
PricewaterhouseCoopers firms 

    

Audit of financial statements  74,995  104,701 
     
Total audit services   424,595  463,184 
     
Taxation services - PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Compliance services   81,481 67,480 
     
Taxation services for managed funds for which Platinum Investment Management Limited 
acts as responsible entity - 

    

PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Taxation services   431,976  418,105 
     
Taxation services - overseas PricewaterhouseCoopers firms     
Foreign tax agent fees  21,528 47,311 
     
Total taxation services   534,985  532,896 
     
Other services - PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Compliance and assurance services  114,000  158,988 
Remuneration services (advice on Deferred Incentive Plan)  52,870  46,433 
     
Total other services   166,870  205,421 
     
Total fees paid and payable to the auditor and its related practices  1,126,450  1,201,501 
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Note 20. Share -based payments  
 
Deferred Incentive Plan  (applies to all staff) 
 
In June 2016, a “Deferred Incentive Plan” was approved by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. The main 
objective of the Plan is to recognise the contributions made by key employees and to retain their skills within the firm. 
Eligible employees are selected by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee during the annual remuneration cycle and 
the proportion of each incentive award that is deferred will vary by employee. The number of deferred rights are 
determined by dividing the discretionary deferred incentive amount allocated to each eligible employee by the PTM share 
price, using a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the PTM shares over the seven (7) trading days prior to the grant 
date. If an eligible employee remains employed at Platinum after the four year vesting period expires, the employee has a 
further five years to exercise their deferred right. If an employee resigns from Platinum before they have met the service 
condition then, in most circumstances, the deferred rights will be forfeited. 
 
Grants generally occur on an annual basis, most likely in June of each year. In order to satisfy the obligation to the 
Company that arises from the granting of deferred awards, the Company purchases shares on-market and holds these 
shares within an Employee Share Trust.  On vesting, eligible employees will receive one ordinary share in PTM from the 
trust in satisfaction of each of their rights. No fee is payable by any eligible employee on either grant or on exercise. There 
is flexibility for the Board to pay cash to the eligible employee on vesting, but the current plan envisages allocating PTM 
shares only. 
 
Eligible employees will have no voting or dividend rights until their rights have been exercised and shares have been 
allocated. However, the deferred rights carry an entitlement to a dividend equivalent payment. Upon the valid exercise of a 
deferred right, or deemed exercise, of a deferred right, an eligible employee will be entitled to receive an amount 
approximately equal to the amount of dividends that would have been paid to the eligible employee had they held the share 
from the grant date to the date that the deferred rights are exercised.  
 
In the current year, the value of additional deferred incentives were $4,875,000 (2016: $3,550,000), which was based on 
the number of deferred rights of 1,050,656 that was allocated in the current year multiplied by the VWAP share price of 
$4.64.  
 
On 20 June 2017, PIML transferred $4,790,7691 to enable the Platinum Employee Share Trust to purchase PTM shares  
on-market. The amount transferred was less than the 2017 deferred incentive award grant of $4,875,000 (2016: 
$3,550,000) because 16,208 PTM shares that were purchased in the prior year were cancelled and re-allocated to another 
employee. 
 
At 30 June 2017, the aggregate value of deferred incentives was $8,425,000 (2016: $3,550,000) and the aggregate 
number of PTM shares purchased was 1,626,026 shares (2016: 575,370 shares). The trust will hold these additional 
shares purchased until the vesting date of 20 June 2020 and 20 June 2021 respectively (four years from allocation) and 
subsequent exercise. Refer to the table on the following page for further information. 
 
Eligible employees will be entitled to Company (PTM) shares only if the employee(s) remain employed with Platinum 
Investment Management Limited for a period of four years from the grant date. 
 

                                                      
1 Out of this amount, $4,783,594 was used to purchase PTM shares on-market and has been disclosed as part of “treasury 
shares” in Note 12, with the balance relating to associated brokerage costs. 
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Note 20. Share -based payments (continued)  
 
Model inputs used to determine the accounting expense for the deferred rights is as follows: 
 
  2017 grant   2016 grant   Total  
     
Value of Deferred Awards converted to deferred rights ($)  4,875,000 3,550,000 8,425,000 
     
Total number of deferred rights allocated to employees  1,050,656 591,578 1,642,234 
     
Total number of additional deferred rights cancelled   - (16,208) (16,208) 
     
Total number of deferred rights allocated to all employees at 30 June 2017  1,050,656 575,370 1,626,026 
     
Volume-Weighted Average Price (VWAP) of PTM shares over the seven (7) 
trading days prior to grant date ($) 

 
4.64 6.17 n/a 

     
Estimated number of deferred rights expected to vest based on assessment 
at balance date (%) 

 
87% 87% 87% 

     
Grant Date  20 June 2017 20 June 2016 n/a 
     
Vesting Date  20 June 2021 20 June 2020 n/a 
     
Service period used to determine accounting expense  5 years 5 years 5 years 
     
Accounting expense ($) (see below)  848,250 600,300 1,448,550 
  
 
 
Expenses a rising from share -based payment t ransactions  
 
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
     
Deferred rights granted on 20 June 2017 under the Deferred Incentive Plan  848 - 
Deferred rights granted on 20 June 2016 under the Deferred Incentive Plan  601 635 
Total share-based payments expense  1,449   
     
Associated payroll tax expense on deferred rights (payable on vesting)  262  199 
     
Total  1,711  834 

  
 
The associated payroll tax expense on deferred rights is included in staff expenses in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income and will be paid on vesting. Payroll tax has been reflected as a provision in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
At 30 June 2017, the fair value remaining to be amortised over the remainder of the vesting period is $3,393,030 for the 
deferred rights granted on 20 June 2017 and $1,853,117 for the deferred rights granted on 20 June 2016. 
 
In order to retain and motivate employees, additional options or deferred rights may be issued under the OPRP or Deferred 
Incentive Plan in the future, in compliance with the Corporations Act 2001. 
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Note 21. Equity investment s in associate s 
 
At 30 June 2017, Platinum Investment Management Limited (and the consolidated entity) was assessed as having 
significant influence over Platinum Asia Investments Limited (“PAI”) and Platinum World Portfolios Plc (“PWP”), because of 
(i) its equity interests of 13.93% and 14.49% respectively (ii) in the case of PWP, Stephen Menzies is a Director on the 
Boards of both PTM and PWP (iii) the fact that the consolidated entity operates as Investment Manager in accordance with 
the respective Investment Management Agreements, and in the case of Platinum Asia Investments Limited, provides it with 
key technical information, such as performance and exposure reports. 
 
Consequently, at 30 June 2017, the consolidated entity’s equity investments in PAI and PWP represent interests in 
associates which are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Information relating to this is shown below and 
on the following page. 
 
a. Interest s in associate s 

Name of entity 

 Equity 
ownership 

interest 

 

Fair value 

 
Carrying 
amount 

  %  $’000  $'000 
       

30 June 2017       
      
Platinum Asia Investments Limited (ASX code: PAI)  13.93  50,750  53,612 
Platinum World Portfolios Plc (“PWP”)  14.49  39,468  38,080 
   90,218  91,692 
      
30 June 2016       
      
Platinum Asia Investments Limited (ASX code: PAI)  17.05  44,250  47,746 
  
 
The fair value of PAI reflects the 50 million shares held multiplied by the PAI closing share price at 30 June 2017 of $1.015 
(2016: $0.885). 
 
The fair value of PWP reflects the shares held in the sub-funds multiplied by their respective closing prices at 30 June 
2017. 
 
The carrying value reflects the consolidated entity’s share of each associate’s net assets (see section 21b for further 
details). 
 
We have conducted an impairment assessment of the carrying amount including a look-through of each of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of PAI. Based on this analysis, no impairment exists at 30 June 2017. 
 
b. Carrying amount of investment using the equity meth od 
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Opening balance  47,746  - 
Acquisition of associate (investment pursuant to the PAI IPO)  -  50,000 
Initial recognition of PWP as an equity investment on deconsolidation  34,210  - 
Share of associates’ profit/(loss) (see Note 21d)  9,736  (1,543) 
Share of associates’ transaction costs in relation to the PAI IPO, net of tax  -  (711) 
Amount recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income 

 
9,736 

 
(2,254) 

     
Closing balance (see Note 21c)  91,692  47,746 
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Note 21. Equity investments in associates (continue d) 
 
 

c. Share of associates’ statement of financial posi tion 

 

 Platinum 
Asia 

Investments 
Limited 

 
Group’s 
share of 

associate 

 
Platinum 

World 
Portfolios 

 
Group’s 
share of 

associate 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
30 June 2017          
Total assets  397,317 55,330 265,402 38,457 
Total liabilities  12,339 1,718 2,602 377 
     
Net assets  384,978 53,612 262,800 38,080 
      
Total group’s share of associates’ statement of financial 
position (share of PAI’s net assets of $53,612,000 and PWP’s 
net assets of $38,080,000 = $91,692,000) 

 

    
 
30 June 2016 
 

 

    
Total assets  282,068 48,105   
Total liabilities  (2,105) (359) 
      
Net assets  279,963 47,746  
  
 
d. Associate’s net income  
 

2017 

   Platinum 
Asia 

Investments 
Limited 

Group’s 
share of 

associate 

Platinum 
World 

Portfolios 

Group’s 
share of 
associate  

    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
        
Total investment income  61,040 8,503 31,158 4,514 
Total expenses  (5,508) (767) (1,600) (232)
Profit before tax  55,532 7,736 29,558 4,282 
Income tax expense  (16,381) (2,282) - - 
      
Profit after tax  39,151 5,454 29,558 4,282 
     

 

 

 

Group’s 
share of 

associates 
(total) 

 

   $'000  
     
Total investment income   13,017  
Total expenses   (999)  
Profit before tax   12,018  
Income tax expense  (2,282)  
    
Profit after tax  9,736  
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Note 21. Equity investments in associates (continue d) 

2016 

 Platinum 
Asia 

Investments 
Limited  

Group’s 
share of 

associate 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Total investment loss (8,466)  (1,444)
Total expenses (4,326)  (737)
Loss before tax (12,792)  (2,181)
Income tax benefit 3,743  638 
    
Loss after tax (9,049)  (1,543)
 
Note 22. Commitments 
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Lease commitments - operating     
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:     
Within one year  2,057  1,440 
One to five years  8,924  840 
Greater than five years  6,404  - 
     
  17,385  2,280 

 
On 23 June 2017, the consolidated entity entered into a new lease over the premises it occupies. The lease is due to 
expire in January 2025. The comparative numbers were significantly lower because these numbers were based on the old 
lease, which at the time, was due to expire in January 2018. 
 
The consolidated entity has no commitments for significant capital expenditure. 
 
Note 23. Related party transactions  
 
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 26. 
 
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 18 and the Remuneration Report in the Directors' 
Report. 
 
Tax consolidation and dividend transactions 
Any tax payable on income and gains from any entity within the tax consolidated group and dividends are sourced from the 
main operating subsidiary, Platinum Investment Management Limited (“PIML”), and paid out under the Company. Platinum 
Asset Management Limited is the head entity of the consolidated tax group and is the parent entity, and consequently, is 
the entity that ultimately pays out dividends to shareholders. The amounts paid to shareholders are disclosed in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows. 
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Transactions with related parties 
 

Platinum Investment Management Limited provides investment management services to (i) its related party unit trusts - the 
Platinum Trust Funds and Platinum Global Fund (ii) the offshore fund, Platinum World Portfolios Plc. and (iii) its two ASX-
listed investment companies (LICs), Platinum Capital Limited and Platinum Asia investments Limited.  
 
Platinum Investment Management Limited was entitled to receive a monthly management fee from each of these entities, a 
monthly administration fee from the Platinum Trust Funds and Platinum Global Fund and a performance fee (that is 
calculated annually) based on the relative investment performance of the Platinum Trust Funds, Platinum Capital Limited 
and Platinum Asia Investments Limited. The total related party fees recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2017 was $260,263,536 (2016: $280,579,030). The total related party 
fees receivable recognised in the statement of financial position at 30 June 2017 was $22,869,423 (2016: $21,888,293). 
 
At 30 June 2017, Platinum Investment Management Limited (“PIML”) continued to hold its 50 million shares (2016: 50 
million shares) in PAI.  
 
During the year, PIML transferred 19,200,000 of its 50 million options to sophisticated third party investors for nil 
consideration. In addition, PIML exercised 21,325,000 of its PAI options at the exercise price of $1 per option and on the 
same day sold 21,325,000 PAI shares for $1 per share pursuant to an on-market block trade. PIML retained the remaining 
9,475,000 options and these expired on 15 May 2017.  
 
At 30 June 2017, the PAI shares were valued at $1.015 per share (2016: $0.885 per share). The total fair value of PIML’s 
investment was $50,750,000 (2016: $44,250,000) for the shares and $nil for the options (2016: $800,000). 
 
Platinum Investment Management Limited held investments in the Platinum Trust Funds. At 30 June 2017, the amount of 
this investment as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position was $107,453 (2016: $101,711). The 
income distribution relating to this, as disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income was $10,516 (2016: $6,819). 
 
The fair value of Platinum Investment Management Limited’s seeding investment of US$25 million (equivalent to 
A$35,231,000) in the offshore fund, Platinum World Portfolios Plc. (“PWP”) at 30 June 2017 (and 30 June 2016) is shown 
in the table below. 
 

 
 

Interest 
 Fair value 

of interest 
  %  A$'000 
     
30 June 2017  14.49  39,468 
     
30 June 2016  51.90  32,780 
 
 
Mr Stephen Menzies is Platinum Investment Management Limited’s nominee on the Board of PWP. Platinum Investment 
Management Limited reimburses Stephen Menzies for any incidental travel and accommodation associated with 
attendance at Board meetings in Ireland. At 30 June 2017, the amount reimbursed was $18,488 (2016: $20,639). 
 
With respect to PWP, PIML has undertaken to limit the annual expenses of each of PWPs sub-funds through the use of a 
voluntary expense cap, where total expenses of each sub-fund does not exceed a specified limit (for example: for the base 
fee class(es), the limit or cap is 1.65% of the Net Asset Value of each sub-fund). At 30 June 2017, the total amount paid or 
payable by PIML to PWP in respect of expenses for the period was A$58,683 (2016: A$337,413). 
 
During the prior year, the Company established and allocated rights to eligible employees under the Deferred Incentive 
Plan. A second tranche of rights were allocated to eligible employees in the current year. 
 
On 20 June 2017, PIML transferred $4,790,769 to enable the Platinum Employee Share Trust to purchase PTM shares  
on-market. The amount transferred was less than the 2017 deferred incentive award grant of $4,875,000 (2016: 
$3,550,000) because 16,208 PTM shares that were purchased in the prior year were cancelled and re-allocated to another 
employee. 
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After the expiration of four years from grant date, PTM shares will be allocated to key employees of Platinum if they remain 
employees of Platinum for the vesting period of four years and exercise their entitlement to these shares. If an employee 
leaves before the expiry of four years, the shares will be forfeited and may be re-allocated to other employees. See Note 
20 for further details. 
 
In the current year, the consolidated entity paid $200,000 to OneVue Services Pty Limited for the provision of services 
associated with the build, customisation and enhancement of the Platinum web-site. OneVue is a related entity of the 
Chairman of Platinum Asset Management Limited, Mr Michael Cole. 
 
Loan Agreements with related parties 
There were no formal loan agreements executed with related parties at the current and previous reporting date, but there 
are intercompany receivables and payables. 
 
Note 24. Disclosure of interests in other entities  
 
(a) Structured entity disclosures (excluding subsidiaries and associates) 
 
A structured entity is an entity that is not part of the consolidated entity, despite one or more entities within the consolidated 
entity purchasing units or shares in the other (structured) entity.  The relevant activities of unconsolidated structured 
entities are directed by the investment manager by means of contractual arrangements, such as an Investment 
Management Agreement. 
 
At 30 June 2017, the consolidated entity holds an investment that can be described as a structured entity, via Platinum 
Investment Management Limited (“PIML”) holding investments of less than 1% in each of the Platinum Trust Funds, and for 
the FY 17 year, receiving management, administration and performance fees for its role as investment manager. 
 
The following table provides information in relation to this investment: 
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Net Asset Value attributable to all investors     
Platinum Trust Funds  16,317,146  16,777,587 

  
   
     
     
Maximum exposure (includes PIMLs interest & fees receivable)     
Platinum Trust Funds  21,754  21,403 
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(b) Subsidiary and associate disclosures  
The table below discloses the Net Asset Value relating to the Company’s subsidiaries and associates at 30 June:  
 

Entity 

 

Extent of 
PIML’s 
interest 

 
Net Asset 

Value 
attributable 

to all 
investors 

 Maximum 
exposure 
(PIML’s 

interest plus 
amounts 

receivable) 
  %  $'000  $'000 

       
Current period - 30 June 2017        
McRae Pty Limited  100.00 13,677 13,677 
Platinum Asset Pty Limited  100.00 42,362 42,362 
Platinum Investment Management Limited  100.00 190,512 190,512 
Platinum Asia Investments Limited  13.93 384,978 53,973 
Platinum World Portfolios Plc  14.49 262,800 38,474 
Platinum Employee Share Trust (market value of PTM shares purchased on-
market at balance date plus excess cash)^ 

 
100.00 7,531 7,531 

PIMA Corp (US)  100.00 185 185 
   902,045 346,714 
     
Prior period - 30 June 2016       
McRae Pty Limited  100.00 13,677 13,677 
Platinum Asset Pty Limited  100.00 42,362 42,362 
Platinum Investment Management Limited  100.00 183,104 183,104 
Platinum Asia Investments Limited  17.05 279,963 47,998 
Platinum World Portfolios Plc  51.90 63,122 32,787 
Platinum Employee Share Trust (market value of PTM shares purchased on-
market at balance date plus excess cash)^ 

 
100.00 3,407 3,407 

PIMA Corp (US)  100.00 189 189 
   585,824 323,524 
 
^ Platinum Employee Share Trust holds PTM shares on behalf of employees selected to participate in the Deferred 
Incentive Plan (see Note 20 for further details). 
 
There are no additional off-statement of financial position arrangements which would expose the consolidated entity to 
potential loss. 
 
Note 25. Parent entity information  
  
Set out below is supplementary information about the parent entity. 
  
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
  
  Parent  
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Profit after income tax  181,770  207,028 
     
Total comprehensive income  181,770  207,028 
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Statement of financial position 
  
  Parent  
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Total current assets  127,117  131,101 
     
Total assets  757,605  762,224 
     
Total current liabilities  (8,412) (11,216) 
     
Total liabilities  (8,412) (11,216) 
     
Net assets  749,193  751,008 

     
Equity     

Issued capital  742,933  747,717 
Capital reserve  4,596  1,710 
Retained profits  1,664  1,581 

     
Total equity  749,193  751,008 

  
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 
There are no guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to debts of its subsidiaries, no contingent liabilities and 
no capital commitments. 
 
Note 26. Interests in  subsidiaries  
  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1: 
  
    Ownership interest  
  Principal place of business /   2017  2016 
Name  Country of incorporation   %  % 
       
McRae Pty Limited  Australia  100  100 
Platinum Asset Pty Limited  Australia  100  100 
Platinum Investment Management Limited  Australia  100  100 
Platinum Employee Share Trust   Australia  100  100 
Platinum Investment Management Australia (PIMA) 
Corp. 

 United States  
100 

 
100 

Platinum World Portfolios Plc  Ireland  n/a  51.9 
  
Note 27. Events after the reporting period  
 
Apart from the changes to the Platinum Trust Funds/Platinum Global Fund fee options that were effective from 3 July 2017 
and the dividend declared in August 2017, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2017 that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the 
consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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Note 28. Reconciliation  of profit after income tax to net cash from operati ng activities  
  
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Profit after income tax expense for the year  192,647  199,870 
     
Adjustments for:     
Prior period tax  (88) (85) 
Depreciation expense  895  965 
Net loss on disposal of fixed assets  (1)  2 
Purchase of shares and transaction costs associated with the Deferred Incentive Plan  (4,791) (3,647) 
Share-based payments accounting expense  1,449  635 
Foreign exchange differences  (118)  (5,142) 
Interest income  (4,341) (4,068) 
(Gain)/loss on investments  (16,591) 2,446 
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (455) 11,245 
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets   790  (1,701) 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (163) (4) 
(Decrease) in trade creditors and GST  (696) (679) 
(Decrease)/increase in provision for income tax  (2,900) 1,624 
(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities  (645) 442 
Increase in employee provisions and payroll tax  394  558 

     
Net cash from operating activities  165,386  202,461 

  
Note 29. Earnings per share  
 
   
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 
     
Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Platinum Asset Management Limited  186,026  200,887 
     
  Number   Number  
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic and diluted earnings 
per share 

 
586,052,147 

 
586,661,000 

     
  Cents   Cents  
     
Basic earnings per share  31.74  34.24 
Diluted earnings per share  31.74  34.24 
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Note 30. Non -controlling interests  
 
External (non-related party) investment in PWP represents a non-controlling interest in the consolidated entity which can 
be broken down as follows: 
  30 Jun 2017   30 Jun 2016  
  $’000  $’000 
     
Opening balance  28,736  - 
Profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to non-controlling interests  6,621  (1,017) 
Additional external investment into PWP  73,758  29,753 
Deconsolidation of PWP – external equity (see Note 12)  (103,511) - 
Deconsolidation of PWP – current year profit ($6,621,000) and prior year loss ($1,017,000)  (5,604) - 
     
  -  28,736 

  
External equity – Platinum World Portfolios Plc. 
External equity represents external investment into the Platinum World Portfolios (“PWP”). During the year, net external 
investment into the PWP totalled A$73,758,000 (2016: A$29,753,000). 
 
In January 2017, an external investor invested US$97.4m (A$129m) into PWP. This resulted in PIML’s interest decreasing 
to 16.5% on 26 January 2017. This created the trigger point for the consolidated entity to no longer control PWP. The 
results of PWP have been deconsolidated from the financial statements and equity accounting has been applied from 26 
January 2017 (see Note 21 for further details). 
 
Note 31. Contingent assets and liabilities  
 
The new Quoted Managed Funds (QMFs) are expected to launch in September 2017, which will offer an International 
Fund (“PIXX”) and a Asia Fund (“PAXX”). PIML expects to seed these Funds to a level of up to $50 million ($25 million 
allocated to each Fund). There are no other contingent assets or liabilities in existence at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016. 
 
Note 32. Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis 
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The gross and net positions of financial assets and liabilities that 
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position are disclosed in the first three columns of the table. 
 
There were no financial assets or liabilities at fair value as at 30 June 2017, because on 26 January 2017, PWP was 
deconsolidated from the consolidated entity. The table on the following page shows the comparative period only. 
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 Amounts offset in the statement of 

financial position 
 Related amounts not offset in the 

statement of financial position 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Gross 
amounts 
($’000) 

 Gross 
amounts 
set-off in 

the 
statement 
of financial 

position 
($’000) 

 
Net amounts 
presented in 

the 
statement of 

financial 
position 
($’000) 

 

Financial 
Instruments 

($’000) 
(1) 

 

Cash 
collateral 

($’000) 

 

Net amount 
($’000) 

             
30 June 201 6 
 
Financial Assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Derivatives  24  -  24  (16)  -  8 
Forward currency contracts  88  -  88  (88)  -  - 
Total  112  -  112  (104)  -  8 
           
Financial liabilities              
Derivatives  16  -  16  (16)  -  - 
Forward currency contracts  166  -  166  (88)  (78)  - 
Total  182  -  182  (104)  (78)  - 
  

(1) shows the impact of arrangements between the consolidated entity and the relevant counterparty on financial instruments that 
provide a right to set-off that becomes enforceable and affects settlement of individual financial assets and liabilities only 
following a specified event of default or in other circumstances not expected to arise in the normal course of business. These 
arrangements are not set-off in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position, as they were not enforceable. 
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In the Directors' opinion: 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 

Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board as described in Note 1 to the financial statements; 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 

30 June 2017 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 
  
●  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable. 
  
The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
On behalf of the Directors 
  
     
     
     
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Michael Cole  Kerr Neilson 
Chairman  Director 
     
24 August 2017   
Sydney   
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Independent auditor’s report 

To the shareholders of Platinum Asset Management Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

 

Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Platinum Asset Management Limited (the Company) and its 
controlled entities (together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

What we have audited 

The Group financial report comprises: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 

 the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then 
ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies; and  

 the directors’ declaration. 

 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 



 

Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. 

 

Our audit approach 

An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually, or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which it operates. 

Our audit approach takes into account work undertaken by key third party service providers relevant 
to our audit.  This includes the administrator which provides custodian services for the trusts that the 
Group manages. 

 

Materiality Audit scope Key audit matters 

 For the purpose of our audit we 
used overall Group materiality of 
$13.5 million, which represents 
5% of the Group’s profit before 
tax. 

 We applied this threshold, 
together with qualitative 
considerations, to determine the 
scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures and to evaluate 
the effect of misstatements on 
the financial report as a whole. 

 We chose Group profit before tax 
because, in our view, it is the 
metric against which the 
performance of the Group is 
most commonly measured.   

 Our audit focused on where the 
Group made subjective 
judgements; for example, 
significant accounting 
estimates involving 
assumptions and inherently 
uncertain future events. 

 We conducted an audit of the 
most financially significant 
entities within the Group being 
Platinum Investment 
Management Limited (PIML) 
and Platinum Asset Proprietary 
Limited (PAPL). This was 
supplemented with risk focused 
audit procedures over corporate 
functions including cash and 
treasury.  

 Amongst other relevant 
topics, we communicated the 
following key audit matters to 
the Audit and Risk 
Committee: 

 Fee Revenue 

 Offshore banking unit 
taxation 

 Accounting for investment 
vehicles. 

 These are further described 
in the Key audit matters 
section of our report. 



 

 We selected 5% based on our 
professional judgement, noting it 
is within the range of commonly 
acceptable profit related 
thresholds.  

 In establishing the overall 
approach to the Group audit, 
we considered the type of work 
that needed to be performed by 
us, as the Group’s auditor, or by 
component auditors operating 
under our instruction.   

 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 

matter 

Fee Revenue 

Refer to note 1 - Significant accounting policies 

Revenue is the Group’s most significant account 
balance in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.   The Group 
recognised revenue of  $312.5 million comprising  the 
following revenue streams: 

 Management fees $296.4 million); 

 Performance fees ($1.6 million); and  

 Administration fees ($14.5 million).   

The terms of these fees are set out in the Group’s 
investment management agreements with mandate 
clients and trusts.  

We considered the Group’s fee revenue a key audit 
matter due to the: 

 Amount of the management fee and 
administration fee balances. 

 Higher level of risk related to performance fees 
arising from the: 

­ Manual processes involved in calculating, 
reviewing and recording the fees; and 

­ Complexity of performance fee 
arrangements which involve the Group 
assessing the performance of relevant assets 
against a specified benchmark which is 
calculated using complex formulae. These 
benchmarks are agreed between the Group 
and its clients, and set out in relevant 
investment management agreements. 

 

To assess the design and operating effectives of 
relevant key controls over recognising fee revenue, 
we performed the following audit procedures 
amongst others:  

 Inspected a sample of reconciliations 
performed by the Group throughout the year 
to determine whether the Group’s records of 
assets under its management agreed with the 
administrator’s records 

 Read the administrator’s auditor’s report as 
provided to the Group; and 

 Assessed our ability to place reliance on the 
administrator’s auditor’s report by 
considering the auditor’s independence, 
experience, competency and the results of 
their procedures. 

Management and administration fees 

 For management and administration fees 
received from mandate clients, we tested a 
sample of fee calculations by agreeing funds 
under management (FUM) and the fee rate 
back to the Group’s system reports and the 
relevant investment management agreement 
respectively, and tracing the fees received to 
bank statements. No material exceptions 
were noted. 

 For management and administration fees 
received from trusts managed by the Group, 
we tested a sample of fees recorded by the 
Group against Net Asset Value data obtained 
from the third party administrator and fee 
rates obtained from the Product Disclosure 
Statements and trust constitutions.                     



 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 

matter 

No material exceptions were noted.   

Performance fees: 

For a sample of performance fees we: 

 Agreed the data used in the fee calculations 
to the Group’s underlying systems, agreeing 
the basis of the calculations to that set out in 
the relevant client agreements, agreeing the 
benchmark performance to an independent 
third party source, and testing the 
calculations. No material exceptions were 
noted 

 Agreed the performance fees received to the 
Group’s relevant bank statements.  

Offshore banking unit taxation 

Refer to note 1 - Significant accounting policies and 

note 4 - Income Tax expense 

The Group’s current income tax payable is calculated in 
accordance with Australian Taxation Laws in force at 
the balance sheet date including those relating to 
Offshore Banking Units (“OBU”).   

To apply the OBU tax rates to the offshore income tax 
expense calculation, the Group must assess its OBU 
eligibility by considering whether its investment 
activities meet the conditions set out in the OBU 
taxation laws and determine the portion of general 
expenses which relate to the OBU.  

If the Group meets the OBU eligibility requirements, a 
reduced tax rate of 10% is applied to their offshore 
taxable income. 

We considered this a key audit matter given the 
judgement used by the Group to determine and apply a 
methodology for allocating general expenses to the 
OBU. 

 

 

 

In assessing current income tax payable, we 
performed the following audit procedures amongst 
others: 

 Considered the Group’s eligibility to apply the 
OBU taxation laws by assessing its compliance 
with key OBU conditions 

 Assessed the methodology used by the Group to 
allocate expenses for determining offshore 
taxable income. We found the methodology 
consistent with market practice observed by 
PwC tax specialists 

 Agreed the key inputs (such as income and 
expense balances) used in the Group’s tax 
calculations to the Group’s accounting records, 
noting no material exceptions 

 Reperformed the OBU tax calculation.  

 

Accounting for investment vehicle 

Refer to note 1 - Significant accounting policies 

During the year, external investors invested $129m into 
Platinum World Portfolios Plc (“PWP”) which reduced 
the Group’s interest in PWP from 51.9% as at 30 June 
2016 to 14.5% as at 30 June 2017.  This change 
required an assessment of whether the Group 
continues to control PWP or whether the Group has 
significant influence over PWP. 

We considered this a key audit matter given the 
judgement required in determining the appropriate 
classification and accounting for the Group’s 
investment in PWP in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.  This included: 

 The level of influence the Group has over PWP  

 

To assess the classification and accounting treatment 
of the investment in PWP we performed the following 
audit procedures amongst others: 

 Obtained PWP’s offer documents, constitution 
and the Investment Management Agreement 
between PIML and PWP to develop an 
understanding of the scope of powers and 
decision making authority held by the Group 

 Assessed the Group’s exposure to PWP’s returns 
by multiplying the expected management and 
performance fees of PWP by the ownership 
percentage of the Group. 

 



 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 

matter 

 The extent of exposure to returns or rights to 
variable returns from the Group’s involvement 
with PWP 

 The ability for the Group to use its influence over 
PWP to affect the amount of the return 

At 30 June 2017, the Group concluded that it did not 
control PWP but rather has significant influence over it.  

 

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information included in the Group’s 
annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017 comprises the Shareholder Information and the 
Directors' Report (but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon), which 
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. We also expect other information to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report, including the Chairman's Report and 
the Managing Director’s Letter to Shareholders. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not, and will not, 
express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received as identified above, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use 
our professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 



 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 

Report on the remuneration report 

 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 9 to 16 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2017. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Platinum Asset Management Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2017 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

R Balding Sydney 
Partner 24 August 2017 

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf

